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NO UNDERTAKINGS GIVEN DURING THIS HEARING

Thursday, May 19, 2005

     ‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  There we go.  Good morning everyone.  Can you hear me at the back?  Thank you.


The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2005-0001 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for an order or orders approving or fixing rates for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas in their fiscal year 2006.  An issues conference involving the company, intervenors and Board staff was held on May 17th, 2005 to clarify issues and to identify proposed modifications and additions to the issues list.


The Board understands that the parties have not reached an agreement on all of the issues, to be pursued in the hearing of this application.


The Board sits to hear submissions on the issues and to consider if the proposed list is appropriate and defining the framework for the hearing process.


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the presiding member in this hearing, and joining me on the Panel are Board members Cynthia Chapman and Paul Sommerville.  May I have appearance, please, first for the applicant?


APPEARANCES:

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution, and with me as co‑counsel is Tania Persad.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Other parties present?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and members of the Panel.  It is Murray Klippenstein appearing for Pollution Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for the Industrial Gas Users Association.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. MONDROW:  Ian Mondrow, Direct Energy.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.


MS. DEMARCO:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Elizabeth DeMarco on behalf of Superior Energy Management, TransAlta Cogeneration LP and TransAlta Energy Corp. as well as -- sorry, the Advocates for Fair and Non‑Discriminatory Access, which is a group consisting of Coral, Cargill and WPS.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  I wasn't prepared for the length of your list.


MS. RUZYCKI:  Nola Ruzycki with Ontario Energy Savings Corp.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch that.


MS. RUZYCKI:  Nola Ruzycki with Ontario Energy Savings Corp.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  Good morning.  David Poch on behalf of the Green Energy Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.


MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel members.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm here representing the Heating, Ventilation and Air‑Conditioning Coalition Inc.  I'm also representing the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  


MS. YOUNG:  Valerie Young, for the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.


MR. ROSS:  Good morning.  Murray Ross for TransCanada PipeLines.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.


MR. STACEY:  Jason Stacey.  I have an energy consulting business in my name.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stacey.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning.  John DeVellis from the Vulnerable Energy Consumer's Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Is that the list?  And for Board staff?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Michael Miller for Board staff.  With my are Colin Schuch and Mr. Richard Battista.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters for the panel's consideration?  No.


Then regarding the format of the day, I'm going to ask Mr. Millar to present the issues list.  Then we will take submissions by the unresolved issues.  I understand there are three issues, so we will have three parts to the hearing, with the applicant speaking first to each issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have a comment, which I advised my friends I would make on the record, on a resolved issue, as to its interpretation, so perhaps you could find a time in that schedule for that.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  I was going to ask about any other issues after we had talked about the three unresolved issues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  As the panel knows, there was an issues conference this Tuesday, May 17th, and through the hard work of all the parties there was a large degree of agreement on the issues.  In fact, I would guess well over 90 percent of the issues were agreed to.  However, as you mentioned, there are three outstanding issues, and I believe everyone here has a copy of the list, including the Panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Millar, we do.


MR. MILLAR:  So the three issues on which agreement was not reached are issue 9.19, and that's third party access to customer bills, including its revenue and cost impacts; issue 15.1, and that relates to demand side management; and the final issue upon which agreement could not be reached was issue 18.3, timing and changes to all aspects of EGDI's rate 300, 305, 310 and 315 rate schedules.  


So those are the three issues upon which agreement could not be reached that we'll be discussing today.  I guess there as a preliminary matter, we would also -- not necessarily preliminary, but we will also be asking the Board to accept the issues that were agreed upon by all the parties, but I imagine most of the discussion today will be over the three outstanding issues.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  So, Mr. Cass, are you going to speak to issue 9.9 ‑‑ 9.19.


ISSUE 9.19:

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Yes, I am Madam Chair.  In fact, the applicant is opposed to the inclusion of all three of the disputed issues on the issues list, so if it suits the Board, I will address all three of them one after the other, unless the Board chose to do them one at a time and go through the submissions on each.  I think it might be more than efficient if I just do all three at once.


MS. NOWINA:  We were thinking of doing them one at a time, but I might ask if there are any other parties who have an opinion on how we might handle it?  No problem.  So if we're going to handle them all together, we will do that for everyone and you can proceed in that way, Mr. Cass.  


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I might interrupt just in respect of issue 9.19, which is the disputed issue that I'm here this morning to observe and address as required, it is not clear to me precisely what the parties advocating the issue of that list would like to cover in the proceeding, so I have no objection certainly to Mr. Cass proceeding in opposition to all three issues together, but prior to making any submissions on my part, it would be most helpful if the parties advocating the issue could state their positions on the record.


MS. NOWINA:  I think, Mr. Cass, if you don't mind, we would like to go back to the original format and go issue by issue.  If there is some overlap in your presentations, we will understand.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I did put together somewhat hastily a small brief of materials for today, and it's been handed around.  I would hope that each of the Board members would have a copy of it in front of them.


MS. NOWINA:  Not yet, Mr. Cass. 


MR. CASS:  As I said, this was prepared in a little bit of haste.  So the materials in the bound portion of the brief itself relate only to contested issues 15.1 and 18.3.  I did tuck into the back, I hope, of each person's copy of this brief a couple of items that are relevant to the other disputed issue, 9.19.  So those should be just loose in the back of each copy of the brief.


MS. NOWINA:  They are.  Thank you.  Perhaps we can mark these as an exhibit number, Mr. Millar.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give the document Exhibit No. K0.1 and we will call it EGDI brief for issues day.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. K0.1:  EGDI BRIEF FOR ISSUES DAY.

MR. CASS:  Now also, Madam Chair, I did not include in the brief a copy of the proposed issues list itself.  I know that everybody else has that separately, but of course in my submissions I will be referring to the specific wording of the disputed issues, so it would be useful, as well, if the Board members could have that in front of them.


MS. NOWINA:  We do.  Perhaps we should give it an exhibit number, as well.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will call that one K0.2, proposed issues list, EGDI 2006 test year.

EXHIBIT NO. K0.2:  PROPOSED ISSUES LIST, EGDI 2006 TEST YEAR.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Battista.


MR. CASS:  So, Madam Chair, I assume, in relation to the disputed issues, then, we will deal with them one at a time and in the order that they come up on the issues list.  So, of course, I’ll deal with 9.19 first, and now proceed with my submissions on that issue.  

     As the Board would see from the proposed issues list, it is -- it appears, at the top of page 4.  And the wording is in a manner that, in my submission, endeavours to capture a very broad issue with the opening words, and then followed by the word "including", to represent something that would be part, but certainly not all, of what the issue is all about.  So the opening words are "third party access to customer bills", which seems to be the proposed issue at large.  And then following that is the word "including", to indicate that part, but not all, of the issue is revenue and cost impacts. 

     My submission, Madam Chair, will be two-fold.  First, the company's position is that the issue should be removed from the issues list altogether, because the aspects of it that are relevant to the fixing or approval of just and reasonable rates for the 2006 test year are matters that can be dealt with, and should be dealt with, in the context of the O&M customer-care issue.  That is my first submission.  

     The alternative submission is -- another way of looking at it is, that what is appropriate in the fixing or approval of just and reasonable rates for the test year is, in fact, what's described in the inclusionary clause.  Revenue and cost impacts is what is really relevant within that issue.  That's what the company submits can be dealt with under the O&M customer-care heading.  But an alternative way of doing it would be to reword the issue, so, instead of that being merely inclusionary, it is defining part of the issue, so that it would be:  revenue and cost impacts of third-party access to customer bills.  

     Now, as I understand it, the company does not forecast at this time any revenue and cost impacts in the test year of third-party access to customer bills.  But, notwithstanding that, if bill access is somehow to become relevant in a rates case such as this, it's my submission that it becomes relevant to the fixing or approval of just and relevant rates to the extent that there are -- to the extent that there is to be any issue about revenue or cost impacts in the test year.  

     In other words, my submission is that a general review of philosophy, if I can use that word, of bill access is not a rates case issue, and should not occur in this case.  It's the -- if I can put it a different way, instead of revenue and cost impacts, it's the financial implications that are relevant to rate-making that are within the scope of a rates case such as this. 

     However, as I already pointed out when I discussed with the Board the wording of the proposed issue, it's clear from the issue, as framed, that it contemplates something broader than financial implications, because, in fact, revenue and cost impacts is only an inclusionary part of the issue. 

     And my submission, really, on the inappropriateness of the broader policy part of this issue, is two-fold.  First, as I've already said, it's my submission that that is not an appropriate subject for a rate case.  

     And secondly, to the extent that there would be any effort to go beyond what is relevant by way of financial implications for rate-making in the test year, that should be defined in a manner so that the Board understands where its going, the company understands where it's going and everyone else understands where it's going.  But, in fact, the opening words of this issue are completely undefined in terms of where it might be going, other than in relation to financial implications that are relevant to rate-making.  It's just -- third-party access to customer bills is all the definition that is given to the broader aspects of this issue.  

     It's my submission that it is, in fact, unfair to require the applicant to go into a case with an undefined issue of policy like this, that apparently -- not just apparently, but clearly, is framed to go beyond revenue and cost implications, but lacks any further definition to allow the applicant to know what the case is that it is supposed to meet, or deal with, on third-party access to customer bills.  

     It's also my submission that this sort of approach, if accepted, is exactly what leads to an ad hoc sort of policy-making that, in my submission, is a quite dangerous way for the regulatory process to come at issues that are much broader than financial implications for rate-making in the test year.  

     What happens if an issue like this is allowed to proceed in a rate case, notwithstanding its breadth, that goes far beyond what is really relevant to rate-making, and notwithstanding its lack of scope, is that, potentially, the Board would be asked to set some policy around some aspect of this third-party access without us knowing for sure at the start of this case what that policy might be, or where parties are intending to go with it.  And in my submission, that sort of ad hoc policy-making is not something that should occur in a rate case, and certainly not without careful definition, at the outset, of where it’s going.  

     Just as a slight digression on this, in my book of materials, I included some correspondence on the DSM issue, which I will come to, but there is a letter in there written by VECC on the DSM issue, and I will come to this when I'm talking about DSM.  But, in my submission, it essentially makes the point that policy-making should not occur in individual rate cases.  And yet, in this particular issue, the way it has been framed, in my submission, that's precisely what parties are looking to have the Board do, and yet, in a context where there is little or no definition around what that policy-making might be.  

     Now the reason I inserted into the back of Exhibit K0.1 the two loose items is because, in the fiscal 2003 Enbridge rate case, that being RP 2002-0133, a similar debate to the one you're hearing this morning about issue 9.19 occurred.  In fact, it occurred in two separate contexts.  

     Now, what I have included at the back of the brief is submissions that were made on issues day in the fiscal 2003 case by parties about proposed issues 16.1 to 16.3.  These submissions are quite lengthy, and I don't propose to go through them in any detail. 

     Issue 16.1 was one that had to do with terms, conditions and monitoring of sub-contractors.  Issue 16.2 and 16.3 -- and I should make clear these were proposed issues in this context -- were ones that went more directly to this bill-access issue.  There were lengthy submissions about it on issues day in the fiscal 2003 case, and then, at the back of the extract that I have provided to everyone, is the Board's ruling.  

     Starting at paragraph 765 on the very last page of the larger of the two extracts, that being the issues day debate on these issues.  So on issue 16.1, which was the terms, condition and monitoring, the Board essentially took the wording of that issue and tacked it on to another issue, so it survived, but as part of another issue.


But then with respect to the ones that went directly or that went to bill access, 16.2 and 16.3 - and you will see the reference here to HVAC, because HVAC was one, but not the only one of the proponents of those issues - the Board's decision was essentially what I'm submitting to this panel today, which is that what is relevant is ratepayer effects that have a bearing on the fixing or approval of just and reasonable rates in the test year.


So with respect to issue 16.2 and 16.3, the Board did not allow them on the issues list.  It said that the extent that HVAC argued that the billing practices may have a negative effect ratepayers, the Board felt these concerns could be addressed within the scope of issue 8.3.


So it was effect on ratepayers that the Board indicated it was concerned about.  Then the issue was revisited in the same case as a result of some ‑‑ sorry, some evidence that the HVAC Coalition had filed.  Direct Energy brought a motion in that case to -- I think it was essentially to strike out the evidence, but, in any event, a motion challenging the evidence of the HVAC Coalition.  So the Board's decision on the Direct Energy motion starts in the smaller extract that was included in the brief, at paragraph 1087.  So you will see in the opening words there a description of the motion, being, one:

“With respect to evidence filed by the HVAC Coalition, Direct Energy takes the position that the evidence is outside the scope of the issues list."  


And in my submission, that's why it was relevant to look at what the Board did when it set the issues list.  

“Direct Energy argues that the evidence is primarily aimed at the issue of impact on competition in the HVAC market resulting from exclusive access."


If I could just stop there.  So there we have one example of potential implications of this broadly defined issue 9.19 that, at this point, I submit neither the Board nor the company can know for sure, Is that part of where issue 9.19 is going, or is it not?  Competition in the HVAC market.  We simply don't know, because the scope of the broad aspect of the issue has not been defined in this particular case.


Then in the next paragraph, paragraph 1088, as a result of the Board's decision with respect to the issues list ‑ which is what I just took this panel to ‑ Direct Energy says that this issue is outside the scope of the issues set out on the Board's issue list.


Now the Board's ruling on that is in the last ‑‑ on the last page of this extract from the 2003 case, and if I could ask the panel to look at paragraph 1102 on the last page:

“The Board is of the view that the specific issue of who should have access to the Enbridge Gas Distribution bill and the impact of access to the bill in the HVAC marketplace is outside the scope of this proceeding.  The Board reaffirms that issue 8.3 is limited to rate consequences flowing from the arrangements between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Customer Work Limited Partnership."


 I take the Board's use of the word “reaffirm” to be harkening back to its decision on issues day that I took this panel through, where, in relation to the proposed issues 16.2 and 16.3, the Board's decision was that what was relevant was ratepayer effects, and that could be done under the scope of 8.3.  And as I understand what the Board is saying here, it is reaffirming that, that it is rate consequences that are relevant in a rate case.


Now, just for clarity, I do wish to observe, before I close on this point, that there already is third party access to the bill through the ABCT service.  And having said that, I point out, for additional clarity, that Enbridge Gas Distribution is not in the business of providing customer care services to third parties.


So this broadly framed issue 9.19 as it now stands is, in my submission, clearly attempting to put before the Board an enquiry into services that are outside the scope of utility services. 


So, again, in summary, if parties wish to pursue issues around revenue and cost implications of bill access, the company accepts that they can do so through the O and M customer care issues.


In the company's submission, the proposed issue should be removed entirely from the issues list.  Alternatively, though, if the Board does not see fit to do that, the company suggests that the issue ought to be re-framed to read:  Revenue and cost impacts of third party access to customer bills.  And those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Can I get ‑‑ oh, first, any questions from ...


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Cass, you have explained that your view is that the policy issues don't belong in this rate case.  Does Enbridge have any particular view as to where that policy issue might more appropriately be addressed?


MR. CASS:  Sitting here myself today, Ms. Chaplin, I don't.  If the Board is of a mind to address those policy issues, I would readily indicate ‑ I don't think I even need to consult on this ‑ that the company would be prepared to do so in accordance with the Board's directions.  


As to how and when it might occur, I don't think the company takes a position on that, other than it's not in this ‑‑ in a rate case such as this an issue. 


And my submission would also be that, if the Board is of a mind to have that sort of a policy review, then it would be helpful that it emanate from the Board so that the company understand the scope of it, what the Board is interested in pursuing, and then can address, well, where in fact might be the most appropriate situation to do that.  


I think part of my problem in assisting the Board with what the company might think would be the most appropriate forum to address this is its lack of scope.  Is it competition issues such as were referred to in the previous case?  If that were so, I think I would suggest to the Board that the Board ought not to be concerned about that at all in any forum.  If it were something else, my submission might well be different.


So the difficulty in addressing the appropriate forum is linked into the lack of definition around the issue itself.  But certainly, if the Board was of a mind that it felt that there was some aspect of this that could be scoped out and addressed, then the company would be pleased to take direction from the Board on that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Can the parties who would like to support leaving this issue 9.19 on the issues list identify themselves, so we know how many submissions we have?  Ms. DeMarco, Mr. Shepherd.


MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, let me get all the appearances first.  Mr. Dingwall.  And who else?


MS. RUZYCKI:  It's Ruzycki.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Ruzycki.  Is that it?


MR. THOMPSON:  IGUA neither supports nor opposes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Ms. DeMarco, go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DEMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I should clarify that when I speak to this issue, I'm speaking on behalf of Superior Energy Management and the Advocates for Fair and Non‑Discriminatory Access, as well as TransAlta takes no position on this issue.  


I find it curious, Madam Chair, that my friend, Mr. Cass, has chosen to characterize this as a nebulous policy issue, when significant portions of the company's evidence speaks specifically to third-party access to the bill and the revenue and cost consequences associated with that.  So Superior will be making three main submissions in relation to the inclusion of issue 9.19, third-party access to customer bills, including its revenue and cost implications.


The first is that primarily there is a significant amount of evidence in the applicant's application that includes the issue or speaks to the issue, and there are very significant long‑term financial impacts of the customer's proposal on customer rates.  

     Secondly, that the Board does have jurisdiction, and should exercise the jurisdiction, regarding third-party access to customer bills and the revenue and cost implications in Enbridge's proposed 2006 rates.  

     And thirdly, and finally, it’s Superior's submission that failure to exercise that jurisdiction in this case could result in higher than necessary O&M costs, and, therefore, customer rates, as a result of lower than necessary charges for third-party access to Enbridge's bill.  

     So if I can start.  You should have a package of materials before you at this point.  It's a stapled package titled “The Book of Materials of Superior Energy Management for Use on Issues Day.” 

     MS. NOWINA:  If you could just wait for a moment, Ms. DeMarco.  We will get that.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  The material in question, we’ll put it into exhibit listing, and it will be titled “Book of Materials from Superior Energy Management,” and we’ll give it number K0.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K0.3:  BOOK OF MATERIALS FROM SUPERIOR ENERGY MANAGEMENT.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     Go ahead, Ms. DeMarco.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     If I can ask you to turn to the first page of that package, which is -- and all of these materials, I should highlight, come directly out of the evidence.  They're just compiled in one package, for ease of flipping.  

     The first page there is Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 2, page 5 of 14.  And it outlines the company's proposals relating to the changes and O&M costs associated with the CIS function, which includes the customer-care functions. 

     And you will see that, in terms of the difference between the 2005 costs estimate and the 2006 budget, there is a significant increase in costs in that element to the budget.  We're going from $117.9 million to $122.2 million.  And it's noteworthy that that $122.2 million associated with the CIS function constitutes approximately one-third of all of the O&M costs in the instant rate application.  So we are talking about a very significant chunk of the dollar figures associated with this rate application.  

     As part of its proposals in relation to the increase and the approvals that the company is seeking, I will ask you to turn to A6, tab 2, schedule 4, page 1 of that package.  And, specifically, paragraph 1 indicates that the purpose of the company's evidence is to update the Board on the company's CIS plans for 2006 through to 2017, to support the recovery of the company's forecast CIS service costs and rates for 2006 and gain the approval of related affiliate transactions.  So certainly, as part of that proposal, Enbridge appears to be seeking approval for entering into a very long-term, 12 years and three-month contract in relation to CIS functions.  Certainly, that falls within the ambit of the relief that the company is looking for, in the context of this application.   

     Now, where the issue of third-party access to bill comes in, is, in fact, the company's evidence itself.  And if I can ask you now to turn to A6, tab 2, schedule 4, starting at page 10 and 11, the company provides a number of bases to justify the need to enter into such a long term contract, and to propose -- or proceed with a new CIS function.  At paragraph 28, one of the bases is, essentially, for Enbridge to have the ability to offer new programs and services to increase distribution load.  Specifically, it will accommodate mandated requirements, CRM capabilities included in the new CIS, will enable the company to better understand what company customers want and need, enabling the company to bring forward new programs and services that will capture incremental gas-distribution load.  

     In addition, the company also uses as one of its justifications for such contract and change -- and now I am asking you to turn the page to A6, tab 2, schedule 4, at page 11, and, specifically, the last bullet there.  The company indicates that one of the justifications is avoiding an extra $5 million per year that Enbridge would have to pay -- and I should say Enbridge Gas Distribution would have to pay for customer care, as a function of its or its parent's relationship with Direct Energy Essential Home Services.  And, specifically, that bullet says it will be requisite to remove 5 million per year for extra costs that Enbridge Gas Distribution will be responsible to pay for customer-care services, because it is assumed that the failure of the ECSI CWLP to provide a new CIS will prompt Direct Energy Essential Home Services to seek alternative billing solutions.  And those specific costs are, again, included in the cost-benefit analysis that the company uses to justify the entry into the long-term contract. 

     And if I can ask you to turn to the last page of the package of materials that you have in front of you, there is, in fact, a table entitled “Enbridge Gas Distribution CIS Replacement Cost-Benefit Analysis.”  And specifically, line item number 5 of that table is entitled “Retention of DEEHS Shared Bill.”  So, it's our respectful submission that, to the extent the specific third-party access and costs associated therewith is included in the company's application at this precipitous time, where we're entering into a very new and long-term contract, it is absolutely appropriate and, moreover, necessary, for the Board to consider third-party access to the customer bill, and the associated revenue and cost applications.  

     Failure to do so will do exactly what my friend is arguing against.  It will result in an ad hoc, without review, policy determination of an issue, without looking at the specific costs and the relationship underpinning those costs.  So it's our submission that, on that first basis, the Board needs to, as a part of the application, view this element of the evidence, and make a decision on third-party access to customer bills and the associated costs and revenue implications.  

     Secondly, it is Superior's submission that the Board certainly has the jurisdiction to rule on this issue.  And, in particular, I’d like you to refer to the evidence at A6, tab 2, schedule 2, page 14, which is also in the book of materials that you've got.  And Enbridge has excerpted a portion of the RP-2002-0133 decision, with reasons, there, effectively indicating that, just because Enbridge has outsourced functions - in our opinion, functions like CIS - it does not insulate the company from regulatory scrutiny and oversight of the associated costs and revenue impacts, and the activities underpinning those costs and revenue impacts.  

     So applied in the instant case, Superior submits that this means that, despite the fact that Enbridge has outsourced its CIS to CWLP and ECSI, and EGD's parent has garnered revenue affecting EGD's rates from the associated relationship with third party access to the customer bill; does not insulate those arrangements from the Board's review in this case.  


In particular, it is our submission that pursuant to the Board's jurisdiction under section 36(2) of the Ontario Energy Board Act and in part of exercising the oversight to ensure just and reasonable rates in this context, the Board should, in fact, review these relationships.


Finally, Superior submits that the Board's failure to consider the issue and review the third party access to the bill and the associated revenue and cost consequences could result in higher than necessary rates by effectively sanctioning lower revenues associated with this function.  To the extent that it all occurs in a black box and is not reviewed by the Board, there is no way to determine whether or not the associated revenues and estimated dollar values that we're using for the cost benefit analysis are reasonable.


If I could just briefly touch on a few of the points that my friend, Mr. Cass, has raised.  First, he has argued that this is a large policy issue.  And in reply, Superior would submit that you cannot examine the revenue and cost implications without examining the specific currently existing, now in place, underlying arrangement that gives rise to those costs and revenue implications.


Secondly, my friend relied quite heavily on the Board's decision in relation to a prior case wherein the broader issue of its competitive impact on the HVAC marketplace was being a primary focus.  There are a number of distinctions in the context of the instant rate case, which, as I said, is looking at a new, very long‑term, very significant CIS contract with assumed numerical and dollar figures associated with the specific third-party access to the customer bill; quite a distinct situation from what we saw in the 2002-0133 decision.


Finally, in response to Board Member Chaplin, when asked what the appropriate forum would be, my friend, Mr. Cass, indicated that the Board should not be concerned with competition issues in any forum, and we would add that although competition issues are not the focus of this very specific and rate‑itemized issue in this context, that certainly it is part of the Board's mandate, pursuant to section 2 of the OEB Act, to consider issues including competition and its effect on competition.  And those conclude Superior's submission on this point.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, MS. DeMARCO.  I have one question, MS. DeMARCO.  Why do you think that we need a separate issue 9.19, and could it be covered in issues 9.4 through 9.6?


MS. DEMARCO:  The specific itemization of CIS as an umbrella appears to already have been broken down.  So the customer care function has already been broken down out of 9.5.  So to the extent that it is not a rubric issue, CIS, O&M, CIS, that would include all of these items, but, rather, includes express itemization of some of the other items, we would ask that that itemization in relation to third-party access to customer billing as an associated cost and revenue impact also be itemized.  It is basically a point of consistency.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, would you like to go next?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, again, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm going to speak, at this point in time, in the capacity of counsel for HVAC Coalition in respect of this issue.  I will have a very brief submission following that on behalf of CME, but I will try not to be duplicative and I will try to ensure that you know which client has which view.


It's my intention to approach argument in support of the issue from a number of perspectives.  These include:  Looking at the evidence that is on the record at this point in time; looking at the evidence that is yet to be produced or requested; looking at the timing of this application in context of the timing of other initiatives before the Board, because I think that is quite crucial.  I was going to touch on the Board's authority with respect to this, but I believe Ms. DeMarco has covered that, and then I will have a few remarks in conclusion.


With respect to the evidence that's on the record in this matter, Ms. DeMarco has mentioned the cost benefit analysis that Enbridge has put forward as justifying its ‑‑ as purportedly justifying its long‑term efforts to create a new CIS relationship with CWLP.


In addition to that, there was one other portion of Exhibit A6, schedule 2 ‑‑ tab 2, schedule 4, which occurs at page 15, that I think the Board needs to look at.  In that, the company put forward the suggestion that with a new CIS they would have increased opportunity for multi‑company billing, which could provide additional opportunities to Enbridge Gas Distribution. 


We don't know what that means on the face of it but believe that the company has, itself, introduced the notion of new third parties potentially being on the bill in the evidence of this case.  


Now, to clarify, because Mr. Cass had a point about the breadth of the issue, when we're talking about third parties in the context of the proposed issue, this would be third parties in respect of a non‑agency billing and collection relationship, not with respect to ABC.  So we're looking specifically at the access of third parties, who are not commodity providers, to the Enbridge bill.  


Now, Mr. Cass had also mentioned that in the 

RP-2002-0133 case, there was some discussion of the billing relationship at that time and there was some discussion of whether the issues list should be broadened to encompass the notion of competition.  Here we are three years later looking at, potentially, a similar issue on the face of it, but what we're looking at is also a significantly different factual circumstance.


At paragraph 596 of the larger volume that Mr. Cass enclosed with his submissions, there is a transcript reference to the knowledge at the time, which was that the billing relationship between Direct Energy and CWLP was thought to be expiring at that time, as of December 31st, 2005.  That was what I made reference to in my submissions on issues day at that time.  


What we have in evidence partially in this case, but which has not been explored, is whether that relationship might be subject to some form of renewal, renegotiation, or continuation of some sort.  And we don't know that.  What Enbridge had said in their evidence is that if they have the ability to produce a new CIS through CWLP, they may have an ability to retain Direct Energy's charges on their bill and create, somehow, additional revenues for that.


My next submissions are in respect of matters that we don't have in evidence.  What we don't have is what the terms and conditions of any new arrangement with Direct Energy might be for the test year.  Mr. Cass has indicated he doesn't think there is any benefit coming in the test year, and I'm not sure how that could be the case.  I don't know whether the benefits that were referenced in previous years are not continuing for some reason, in which case that raises certainly a question for this case, and why there are then benefits forecasted going out 2008 and beyond, if you look at the last page of the A6, 2, 3 exhibit which has the costing -- or the forecast table on it.  So that's another question of what information should come out of this hearing and should be addressed with the consideration of the broader issue. 

     The terms and conditions associated with any third-party access to the bill have been raised by the company with respect to their identification of new business opportunities.  What those terms and conditions are will drive what the value of the bill is, as a commodity, to either a number of different service providers or to an exclusive service provider.  Presumably, there is some linkage between that economic value and the rights and interests of ratepayers, as, conceivably, that money, in part, should benefit ratepayers.  

     So the broader issue in terms and conditions with respect to third-party access, in my mind, should clearly be within the context of this case.  Enbridge is seeking to gain a broad approval for a long-term CIS contract which has premised upon it the potential inclusion of one specific party, and the potential inclusion of unidentified parties.  What value they manage to achieve for that will be based on the terms and conditions associated with that.  

     My next submissions are with respect to the timing of the application.  What we're looking at, in this case, is the rate year beginning January 1, 2006, ending December 31, 2006.  What we thought we were looking at is the expiry of the current arrangement for Direct Energy to share the bill at December 31st, 2005.  I'm not sure whether that is the case, or not, because the company has clearly indicated that they are trying to seek a future benefit with an ongoing relationship.  Will that fall in the test year?  I don't know.  From discussions, which are outside of the evidence, I understand negotiations are underway.  With that being the case, I think it is clear that there could be some impact on 2006.  

     We expect there will be some examination of system-gas costs as a result of the Natural Gas Forum follow-up proceedings.  But from the Board's schedule that is attached to that particular report, and disclosed more recently in consultations with stakeholders, the Board has no plan to even begin addressing the generic hearing on cost allocation on unbundling until the second quarter of 2006.  With Enbridge seeking direction in this proceeding for a multi-year agreement which encompasses or contemplates a new relationship with Direct Energy, the time line of the NGF proceeding is not sufficient to Enbridge's request and the time-frame that they're seeking to have that responded to.  

     Additionally, this proceeding is the first place in which the company has expressed its intentions with regard to the customer bill going forward.  And this is where they're seeking an approval and direction to go down a road which appears to include a new relationship, and potential other new relationships.  There’s no contemplation in the existing process on GDAR implementation of the third-party access questions beyond commodity, and, given the history of delays in respect of GDAR, it doesn't appear that a process could come to pass which would give response to the issue in a time-line that would address information that's being put forward in this case.  

     To respond to some of Mr. Cass's points.  He has correctly identified that the issue, as framed, may have some breadth.  I think it may be of some assistance to the Board to consider modifying the notion of third-party access to specifically include non-agency billing and collection third-party access, which clarifies that that discussion is not being subsumed within this debate. 

     And then I’d suggest, if it would assist the Board in clarity, the terms and conditions and costs associated with third-party access.  That would take the breadth of the issue to the customary breadth that is usually associated with the discussion of new rate classes or procedures within a rates case.

I believe I’ve responded to Mr. Cass's comments with respect to the proceeding from three years ago.  We do have a completely different set of facts at this point in time.  GDAR has finally gone through its last appeal.  The question of the Board's jurisdiction over the bill should be resolved -- considered completely resolved and the jurisdiction should be considered quite clear.

     The factual premise that's put forward in this case is that Enbridge is seeking to enter into new arrangements.  In the previous case, there was an arrangement that was assigned to Direct Energy as a result of their purchase of the pre-existing utility-affiliate assets.  That arrangement, from what we had understood, was to be expiring before the rate year that we're dealing with, but, it now seems, might continue into that rate year.  So I think the set of facts distinguish what we're dealing with now versus what we were dealing with then.  

     Mr. Cass has also made the comment that it is not Enbridge Gas Distribution which deals with the utility bill.  I think the GDAR dispositions will -- should inform the Board as to where the bill lies, and where the regulatory obligation lies.  Additionally, I note that there is some contradiction in the evidence as the section with respect to additional third parties - which I’ve made reference to, which was at page 15 of A6, 2, 4 - discussed increased opportunity for multi-company billing, providing additional opportunities to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I think it's quite clear that the billing opportunities, in this new and clarified world, do accrue to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     And in looking through my notes, I believe I've completed my submissions, and thank you very much for listening to them.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, just to clarify.  Those are submissions of HVAC; is that correct?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Those are -- yes.  Those are the submissions of HVAC. 

     If you have any questions, I’ll address them.  If not, I will move on to the submissions of CME.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you go ahead, Mr. Dingwall.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Very briefly, CME believes that, for all of the opportunities, costs and benefits to be associated -- or that may be associated with having third parties on the bill going forward into the test year and beyond, it is necessary to examine the issue in the breadth of its current drafting.

     Those are CME's submissions. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.

     Ms. Ruzycki, could we ask you to go next.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. RUZYCKI:  

     MS. RUZYCKI:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     My name is Nola Ruzycki, and I would like to note that Ontario Energy Savings Corp supports all comments made by Ms. DeMarco.  And we would like to concentrate mainly on the third-party access to the customer bills.  

     OESC is concerned with the third-party billing arrangement which expires December 31st, 2005.  We submit that allowing Direct Energy Essential Home Service exclusive access to the Enbridge invoice is discriminatory, and it puts others at a competitive disadvantage.  The utility is not allowed to provide preferential treatment to any given marketer or any given entity.  And the fact that the company outsourced the billing function does not relieve them of their obligation under the affiliate Code of Conduct or GDAR, or requirements under the Act or any other code with extent to third-party -- with extent to third parties. 

     With those comments, we would submit that this issue should be included in the proceeding.

     And that was all the comments we have.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Ruzycki. 

     Mr. Shepherd?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be brief.  

     Access to the customers, that is us, the clients of Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren and the rest of us representing the ratepayers, is a valuable asset of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And we saw that when they sold the water-heater business for a billion dollars, that wasn't because they were valuable water-heaters, that’s because there was access to the customers involved.  

     That customer list is a very valuable customer list.  It seems to us that dealing with access to the bill involves ‑‑ which is access to the customers.  It's not really access to the bill.  It is access to the customers.  Dealing with that, with access to the bill, is a two‑step process, it seems to us.


First, EGD, with the Board's approval, because the Board protects the ratepayers, has to decide whether the bill covers only distribution and commodity, what they do, or could include other things, like what Direct Energy does or what other people do, your pizza bill, if you want.  It doesn't matter.  They should decide what other things should be included in the bill as a matter of policy, and they have, in fact, already made that decision at a certain point; that is, certain things they say should be added to the bill.  But the Board should consider that.  That's an important issue.  


Once that is decided -- the issue is:  How do you do that?  How do you expand what's allowed on the bill from what EGD does to other things in the manner that most benefits the ratepayers?  And there's two components to that.  One is immediate financial impact.  Are you going to get more money by selling exclusive rights to the bill, or are you going to get more money by letting everybody go on the bill; secondly, the longer-term benefits to the ratepayers, which could include, for example, competitive issues.


But in any case, that discussion, How do you do it to benefit the ratepayers, should be done in a disciplined manner.  And it seems to us that that can only be done in the context of a rate case where all the evidence is before the Board.  And those are our submissions, subject to your questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  I believe that was all the submissions for those who were supporting leaving the issue on the issues list.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Pardon me, Madam Chair.  VECC has no submissions, but we have no objection to the issue being included on the list.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  So can I take appearances for those who would like to support Enbridge's position?


MR. MONDROW:  We would like to support Enbridge's position.  Ian Mondrow, Direct Energy.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  Go ahead, Mr. Mondrow.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MONDROW:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  First of all, I would like to draw the Board's attention to a ruling made in the RP-1999-0058 case, a case that's near and dear to my heart.  It was the case in which HVAC Coalition brought a complaint under the affiliate Code of Conduct when Enbridge Services was still owned by Enbridge Inc., complaining about, among other things, the position of Enbridge Services Inc. on the shared bill with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And the Board ruled at paragraph 4.7.12 that:

“The gas bill was not a utility service because it not a service provided by a utility for which a regulated rate charge or range rate has been approved by the Board.  Therefore, there is no obligation under the code ...”


And the reference there was to the Affiliate Code of Conduct:

“... for ECG to afford HVAC members with access to the ECG bill."


In light of that ruling, which to my knowledge to date has not been reversed, undermined or otherwise challenged, the jurisdiction of the Board under section 36.2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act that my friend Ms. DeMarco pointed to is irrelevant to the disputed issue before you.


I would like to deal, then, briefly with each of my friend's submissions in turn, first with submissions made on behalf of Superior Energy Management.  All of the evidence that Ms. DeMarco pointed out goes to savings as characterized by the applicant, Enbridge Gas Distribution, derived from Enbridge Gas Distribution procuring billing services from Customer Works Limited Partnership, an affiliate of the regulated distributor whose rates are before you, and partly owned by the regulated distributor's parent company.


Customer Works Limited Partnership also provides billing services to other clients, including Direct Energy.  And therein lies the source of the savings, as Enbridge Gas Distribution characterizes them, that in the applicant's submission justifies continuation of the procurement of billing services from that billing services provider, Customer Works Limited Partnership.  


I believe the evidence of Mr. McGill reflects in the order of a $5 million annual savings to ratepayers arising from the fact that Enbridge Gas Distribution pays for a bill, part of the costs of which is also absorbed by other ‑‑ another party and, in particular, Direct Energy Essential Home Services.


All of the evidence pointed out by Ms. DeMarco, in fact, goes to that point.  And in listening to her submissions, I would suggest that she still didn't state what it is, beyond the revenue and cost implications of the utility procuring billing services from Customer Works Limited Partnership, Superior Energy Management would like the Board to review in this case.  


The implication, however, of her submissions, to my mind, is that there was a hypothesis that cost reductions might result to ratepayers from more parties being included on what is now a bill shared by two parties, the distributor and a competitive energy and services provider, Direct Energy.  That is, I would surmise, that Ms. DeMarco's client would like the Board ultimately to direct the parent company of the distributor and the billing services provider to develop further billing services and market those services to other third parties, resulting in a broader sharing of the fixed costs associated with the CIS system that the billing services provider, not the utility, is going to bill and passing those savings on to the utility.


In respect of the utility's proposed agreement with Customer Works Limited Partnership, this Board can and should certainly review any clauses in that agreement that provide for cost reductions, over time, to the utility and its ratepayers, arising from the further billing services offered by the entity providing the billing services to the distributor.  


So if fixed costs end up five years from now, seven years from now, ten years from now being spread among a broader stable of clients of the billing services provider, it is legitimate for Enbridge Gas Distribution, as a customer of that billing services provider, to seek a reduction in its own fees.  But to my submission, that is the extent of the Board's purview of enquiry in respect of the terms and conditions of Enbridge Gas Distribution's proposed billing services agreement with Customer Works Limited Partnership.


I suppose it is also possible that Superior Energy management would like the Board to direct the utility to develop a billing service offered to the world at large, including pizza providers, presumably, which might, in turn, subject to the risks associated with that and the fact it is not a core business, result in billing costs to ratepayers.


 I would submit that the Board would have to consider very carefully the policy associated with advocating that the utility itself build a CIS system and start to offer competitive billing services into the market.  That is not part of the distribution utility's core service and, my recollection of the rules and the legislation would be that if the utility were inclined to develop that non‑core business, it would have to seek permission of this board in advance, and that is not before you in the application, as far as I'm aware.  And, in my submission, Superior Energy Management can't put that matter before you.  That is a matter that the applicant could put before you if it wished to do so, and it hasn't and presumably it doesn't.


I then considered the submissions of my friend, Mr. Dingwall, on behalf of HVAC Coalition.  And as with Ms. DeMarco's submissions, it wasn't stated, to my ear, precisely what it is, beyond the revenue and cost implications of the utility procuring billing services from Customer Works Limited Partnership, HVAC Coalition would like this Board to review.  


But based on my understanding of past positions taken by HVAC Coalition, including the positions taken in the 2003 test year case that Mr. Cass referred excerpts from to you, HVAC Coalition presumably wants to argue that the Board should direct the parent company, Enbridge Inc., and Customer Works Limited Partnership not to extend the billing services arrangement that currently exists between those entities and Direct Energy.


It's my submission that this Board doesn't have authority to direct the parent company and Customer Works Limited Partnership to do or not do anything.  Its authority extends over the gas distributor, and it could presumably direct the gas distributor to reconsider part or all of its proposal to procure billing services from Customer Works Limited Partnership, but, in my submission, certainly can't extend its direction and authority over the actions ‑‑ the commercial actions of the parent company and Customer Works Limited Partnership that fall completely outside the purview of the regulated distribution services that Enbridge Gas Distribution provides and for which it seeks rate approval from this Board.


Just to pause and think about the implications of that sort of line of enquiry for a minute, I find myself thinking about the other parties that would necessarily be involved in the evidentiary wranglings that would include the parent company, the affiliate company, Direct Energy Essential Home Services, the other three gas distributors in the province, presumably all the 96-odd electricity distributors in the province, if what we're going to have is an enquiry about billing services that should be provided by a utility, or the rights and obligations of a distribution utility, beyond procuring the best possible price on behalf of ratepayers from a billing services provider in respect of that services provider developing its business and providing billing services to other parties.  

     I’d suggest the Board doesn't want to proceed down that path, certainly in the context of a rates case.  The issue was raised, Well, what other forum might there be?  There is a gas distribution access rule which has been in place two years, subject to two important exceptions.  That is, presumably, a rule about access to utility services.  To the extent that any other party wants to argue that this bill that’s in issue is, in fact, a utility service, I'd suggest that the Board has already decided it isn't.

     I think the Board has to remember that this bill is, in fact, an Enbridge bill, which the utility bills on, and which Direct Energy bills on.  This is not a bill provided by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  It's not a billing service provided by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  It's not a CIS system to be billed by Enbridge Gas Distribution, or owned by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And the current CIS system is not owned by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     So there are a lot of other parties and a lot of other commercial interests involved in the enquiries that my friends would urge this Panel to proceed down in this case.  

     OESC’s submissions were that there is a problem with the exclusive access of Direct Energy Essential Home Services to the utility bill.  I've already tried to make the point this isn't a utility bill, but it is a bill that the utility bills its services on.  I would like to point out that Direct Energy does not have exclusive access to this bill.  OESC also bills its customers on the Enbridge bill.  What we do have is a piece of a shared bill on an exclusive basis, at least today, and that exclusivity on a piece of a shared bill was part of a large business deal that Direct Energy entered into with Enbridge Inc., the parent company, to procure a business that was, at the time, using a shared bill.  And the arrangement was, for some period of time, to continue using that shared bill in the same fashion in which it had been used.  

     But there is -- the Board should not be under any illusion that other gas marketers in the province are somehow restricted from accessing the Enbridge bill.  That’s simply not the case.

     Finally, the submission by my friend, Mr. Shepherd, for Schools, was admirably the most clear of those that you heard in support of this issue being included on the list, and that was essentially that the utility -- the notion of the utility providing a billing service can and should be reviewed by the Board.  

     There is, however, absolutely no involvement of the utility in any discussions or negotiations, as has been reflected on the record in evidence in a number of proceedings, between Direct Energy and the parties that do provide Direct Energy with access to billing services, i.e., Enbridge Inc. and Customer Works Limited Partnership.  The utility is not involved in any of those discussions. 

     What the utility is involved in, and what Mr. McGill's evidence in this proceeding reflects, are discussions between the utility and Customer Works Limited Partnership in respect of the utility being provided with billing services by Customer Works Limited Partnership.  

     Finally, my friend, Mr. Dingwall, referred to an excerpt in Mr. McGill's evidence in Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 4, page 15, of the record before you.  And that was a reference by Mr. McGill to increased opportunity for multi-company billing which, in the submission of Enbridge, could provide additional opportunities for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     Now, I can't opine what those additional opportunities might be.  The evidence hasn't been fleshed out.  Presumably, there will interrogatories and responses and cross-examination on that passage.  But, I submit that it could well be read as opportunities for additional cost reduction, because a CIS service being procured by Enbridge Gas Distribution, and developed and marketed to other parties by Customer Works Limited Partnership or Enbridge Inc., or Enbridge Commercial Services or any one of the other Enbridge companies, might attract more people than just Direct Energy to the bill, which in turn might result in a further spreading of fixed costs and a reduction to ratepayers in their billing charges.  And that’s very well the purview of this Board in the context of evaluating the applicant's proposal in respect of entering into a long-term billing-services arrangement with Customers Works Limited Partnership.  

     But to read any more than that into this passage at the time, without any evidence, is, I would suggest, inappropriate and a bit of a stretch.  There is nowhere in the evidence that I can see a reference to Enbridge Gas Distribution, the utility, providing any sort of billing services.  And I've already made submissions as to what the applicant would have to do were it inclined to do so, and I don't see any evidence that it is inclined to do so.

     Thank you very much.  Those are my submissions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow. 

     I believe those are all the submissions on this issue.  I think what we will do then is take a 15-minute break at this time.  

     MR. CASS:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  Might I have the opportunity just to say a few things in reply to some of the other points?  It won't be very long. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right, go ahead. 

     MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS: 

     MR. CASS:  As I was listening to the submissions in support of the proposed issue, an analogy occurred to me.  I confess it is not the best analogy in the world, and I hope it won't sound silly, but I would submit to the Board that perhaps the issue could be put into this context.  

     Suppose that Enbridge Gas Distribution went to Visa, which, of course, is a very capable billing company, and said, Would you do our billing for us?  But, by the way, our arrangement with Customer Works Limited Partnership achieves this benefit that’s already been described, because of a shared bill produced through that arrangement.  So, Visa, you would need -- in order for us to make this work, you would have to produce a greater credit back to ratepayers than is accomplished through the shared bill with Direct Energy.  

     In my submission, if that happened, if Visa was able to do that, and the company were to say, You know, we don't really want to be on the Visa bill, but, if you give us a good enough deal, maybe we will deal with that.  Visa comes up with the deal and comes to the Board.  The revenue and cost implications of what Enbridge Gas Distribution did would, of course, be an issue for this Board to look at.  But whether Visa should open up its bill more broadly for access, or how Visa should deal with HVAC companies in the HVAC market, in my submission, that’s a far, far broader issue than the rate-case issue about, how should the Board deal with the revenue and cost implications of this arrangement that Enbridge Gas Distribution has succeeded in making with Visa.  

     Anyway, I apologize if that isn't the best analogy in the world.  It was one that occurred to me as I was listening to the submissions 

     Just a few other points.  

     Mr. Mondrow referred, in connection with the providing of non-utility services by the utility Enbridge Gas Distribution, to the legislative regime.  Just for clarity, it is, in fact, the undertakings given to the Lieutenant-Governor in Council that prevent the utility from engaging in services other than distribution, transmission or storage of gas without the approval of this Board.  I just wanted to clarify, it is the undertakings that, in fact, contain that restriction.  

     Now, as I listened to Ms. DeMarco's submissions, it struck me, as she went through her arguments, that she did not seem to be describing the issue, as she understood it, all that differently from what I said in my opening submission.  She referred to customer-care evidence, which, in fact, discusses implications of bill access by Direct Energy, insofar as those have revenue or cost impacts for ratepayers in the customer-care context.  This was what I endeavoured to say in argument in-chief, that those revenue and costs implications can be addressed under the customer-care heading. 

     Ms. DeMarco then, I think, took the Board to show the Board how, in fact, revenue and cost implications are in the customer-care evidence.  I don't think the company, for a minute, would say that somebody is precluded under the issues list, without issue 9.19, from pursuing the revenue and cost implications that are right in the evidence. 

     And I'm sorry, I can't write or scribble fast enough, and I didn't get the words precisely, but at the end of her submissions, Ms. DeMarco said something that sounded very similar to what the company is submitting the issue should be.  It was something to the effect that competition is not the focus of this, it's very specific and -- I didn't get it exactly, but something like rate-related issue, in this context.

     Well that's not how the issue is framed in my submission.  It’s not framed as a very specific issue.  But that is how, the company submits, that the issue ought to be treated, and, in fact, under the existing O&M issues.  

     Then, as the argument proceeded, it struck me that there was a real disagreement about the scope of the issue, because Ms. DeMarco, having said it’s -- competition is not the focus, then Mr. Dingwall referred back to the 2003 case and, as I understood what he was saying, he mentioned that competition was the issue there, and he said we have a similar issue, on the face of it, here, but in a different context.  So, in my submission, this ties into the submission I made at the outset, which is the scope of this issue is not well-defined.  I'm not sure it's been understood in exactly the same way by the parties who have made submissions in support of it to the Board.  

     Then, in fact, as I understood Mr. Dingwall's submissions -- and I apologize, if I misunderstood -- on behalf of the HVAC coalition, he, in fact, conceded that some limitations on the issue would be appropriate and he described some, but then, on behalf of CME, he said it is CME’s position it’s necessary to examine the issue in the breadth of its current drafting.  So, again, even amongst the proponents of the issue, there seems to me to be a real disagreement about the scope of it.

     Those are my submissions in reply.   Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     Now we will break for 15 minutes.  That will take us to 11:10, and then we will turn to issue 15.1.  Hopefully, we will be able to complete that before our lunch break.

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:20 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  We're going to proceed now with discussing issue 15.1, DSM framework issues for multi‑year plan, and, as before, I will ask Mr. Cass to begin.


ISSUE 15.1:

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.  I fear as we go further into these issues, I get more and more out of my depth.  I think everyone in the room is aware that Mr. O'Leary has been handling DSM issues, so, if I do misstate something because of my lack of general knowledge, please bear with me.  Anyway, to begin my submissions on disputed issues, can she ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Cass, we're having a problem with the hearing here.  So let's try Mr. Cass now.  Go ahead, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  The microphones are not working.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now they're on.  


MS. NOWINA:  There we go.  Sorry, Mr. Cass.  Try again.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  As I did with the preceding issue, I would like to start my submissions by asking the Board to actually turn to the proposed issue so that we might just quickly look at the wording of it.


In fact, I think my submission about the wording becomes somewhat similar to what I said and some of the things that the Board heard from others about breadth, in relation to issue 9.19.


I say that because we've again got an issue or a proposed issue that starts out with some general words, and then has in it what I have loosely called an exclusionary phrase.


The specific point I would make in relation to proposed issue 15.1, that perhaps makes it even broader than the one we previously discussed, is that even the items in the inclusionary clause, itself, are capable of being very broad areas of enquiry, depending on where parties think that they will go with them during the hearing.  


Just to pick one as an example, of the seven items listed, structures of incentives in the context of DSM, I submit to the Board that that, itself, is an extremely broad concept just taken on its own.


However, the more important point, in my submission, about this issue is that the seven items identified are not, in any way, said to be an exhaustive list of what the proponents of this issue wish to look into in this case.  Those are items that are included, but they are not the entirety of the issue.  The broad issue itself is DSM framework issues for a multi‑year plan.  


As the Board would be aware, the company has, in fact, proposed a multi‑year DSM plan in this case.  And looking at the broad part of this issue on its own, really, the only word, as I see it, that defines the scope of the issues to be examined in relation to this multi‑year plan is “framework”.


Otherwise, the issue on its own is issues arising from the multi ‑‑ is issues relating to the multi‑year plan; completely undefined in scope, other than the addition of that word “framework”.


Now, that word “framework”, as we'll see as I go through my submissions, comes from another context, and the Board, this panel, may well be very much aware of the context in which this reference to "framework issues" arises.


I have included in the brief some items on this that I will come to, but perhaps before taking the Board to the brief, it would be helpful if I just laid out, first, what the company's submissions are in relation to this issue and why it objects to the issue.


First, as I've already alluded to in discussing the words of the issue, it's the company's submission that this issue, as framed, is far too broad, in that the general reference to framework issues implies a review of aspects of DSM that have already had extensive time and resources devoted to them on past occasions that, at least in my mind, as a non‑DSM expert, seem almost innumerable.  


So, first, the issue ‑‑ the scope of the issue is just cast far too broadly for any hope that it could be realistically addressed in a rate case such as this.


Second, the scope of the issue itself is a matter of dispute and debate, and there are two aspects to this submission.  First, when I go through the correspondence included in the brief that is Exhibit K0.1, I will make a submission to the Board that there is already, on the record, dispute about the scope of this sort of issue.


My second submission on this issue about scope is that, as we'll see, as I go forward in the argument, these seven identified points have been essentially, if I can put it this way, dropped into this issues list from what happened in a Union case, and specifically in a settlement proposal.  And, in my submission, little or no attention has been paid to the applicability or appropriateness of those items in the context of this Enbridge case.


So that's my second overall point, is relating to the uncertainty and ambiguity about the scope of this issue.


The third point, which I won't spend a lot of time on, is that, in fact, what happened in the settlement proposal for Enbridge's fiscal 2005 case is that all parties agreed that the company should develop what was called in the settlement proposal a longer-term strategic plan for DSM.  The settlement proposal called upon the company to complete that longer‑term plan and file it by January 1st, I think it was, of this year.  January of this year, if I can put it that way.


The company invested considerable time and resources in developing that plan, so-called longer‑term plan, and flowing out of that we have, in this case, as I've already said, the company's application for a multi‑year DSM plan.  In my submission, in the context of the parties agreeing that the company should proceed to invest the resources in longer term strategic planning, it's essentially a backwards step when the company then comes forward with a multi‑year plan to say, Well, given this multi‑year plan, we now have to examine DSM framework.


If that's where parties thought they might want to go, that should have been brought up before last year, the settlement proposal in the fiscal 2005 case, calling upon the company to invest time and resources in developing a longer‑term outlook of DSM.  That's my third point.


Fourth, as I think is implicit in some of the points I've already made, it's the company's submission that it is not an effective use of resources ‑ and by that I mean the Board's resources or anybody else's ‑ to embark on a review with the scope described in the disputed issue, given the time and attention that's already been devoted to aspects of DSM in the past.


Then my fifth point is simply to emphasize that given the importance that I think is attached at this time to conservation and demand management, that, in my submission, the Board should be very concerned about any sort of a wholesale review of DSM that could any way have the potential to derail or sidetrack not only the multi‑year proposal that the company has come forward with, but even the company's ability to proceed with DSM plans for the test year.


So that's my fifth point, and that is a summary of the company's position on this proposed issue. 

     Against the background of those points, if I could ask the Board, then, to turn up Exhibit K0.1, and, specifically, tab 1, I’ll just, if I may, explain some of the items that are included in here.  

     At the beginning of the tab, the first two pages are an extract from the settlement proposal in the fiscal 2005 case.  I've already made the submission about this settlement proposal, and I won't repeat it or elaborate on it.  I will just point out to the Board Panel that the settlement in the fiscal 2005 case that called upon the company to file a longer-term strategic plan is at the bottom of page 34.  That is the first page at tab 1.  You’ll see there the company agrees to file a longer-term strategic plan on or before January 1st, 2005, et cetera.  This is described as a “partial settlement.”  

     Looking at the next page, the Board would be able to say -- see that all participating parties accepted and agreed with this, except for Pollution Probe.  Pollution Probe actually accepted the above terms, but had something additional that it sought some more direction on.  So, although it’s described as a “partial settlement”, I think the Board can readily see that there was widespread agreement that the company should do this longer-term planning. 

     Again, I won't repeat the submission, but, in a nutshell, to now suggest that, because the company has a multi-year application, it becomes necessary to do a complete framework review, in my submission, is a backwards step.  

     Now, the next item, which is three pages in, at this tab, is an excerpt from the settlement proposal in a Union Gas case.  I apologize.  I’ve reproduced it the way it was given to me, and it doesn't actually have any identifying marks on it that I can see, that indicate the case number, the docket number.  But I believe it’s from EB-2005-0211.  And there’s two pages from this settlement proposal in that case.  

     Now, when I started my submissions, I indicated that we would, as I went forward, get some sense of where that word “framework” came from.  So, looking at the first of these two pages that I've referred the Panel to - it's got the page number 5 at the bottom of it - there is a heading:  “DSM Issues.”  And under that, a sub-heading: “DSM Framework.”  

     And the Board will be able to see that there was a partial settlement.  I believe the settlement was partial because it included everybody but Enbridge Gas Distribution.  The partial settlement indicates that all parties, except EGD, agree that consideration should be given to whether certain features of the DSM framework for Union and EGD should be the same for both utilities.  These DSM framework issues include ...

There are two points that I would like to make at this juncture, if I can.  First, I haven't done a word-for-word comparison myself, but I believe that the bullets that follow the word “include”, are those that were, in my words, “dropped into” the Enbridge Gas Distribution issues list.  And I will have a little bit more to say about that. 

     But then the other point I would like to make about this wording is that what's different about the Enbridge Gas -- this wording and the proposed issue 15.1, is that, as I understand the opening words of this issue, the consideration had to do with whether certain features of the two companies’ plans should be the same.  And that was the context for the issue in this partial settlement, as I understand the first sentence.  It was, if I can use the word, “commonality,” it appeared to have a commonality context here.  

     Now in relation to what I've called the “dropping in” of these issues into the proposed issues list for this particular case, one could go through them and talk about them in detail, but the first bullet, for example, “Rules or Principles Applicable to Volumetric Savings Target-Setting and Budget-Setting.”  I don't believe the company has presented any evidence in this case on that issue.  It's opening up a broad issue that is not something that the company has evidence on the record that would enable it to address that issue.  

     Looking at -- just picking a couple of the others.  Skipping down to the third bullet, is “Calculation of Avoided Costs and Incentive Pay-Outs.”  Sorry.  The second bullet is “First Structure of Incentives.”  “First.”  The third bullet is “Calculation of Avoided Costs and Incentive Pay-Outs.”  

     Now, there is nothing here to help us understand the use of the word “incentives”.  Is “incentive pay-outs” the same incentives as in the second bullet?  Or is “incentive pay-outs” customer incentives?  I don't purport to have the answer to it. 

     Again, the point I'm making is that, in my submission, these issues were dropped in here with very little consideration as to what level of certainty or ambiguity they might have, in the context of Enbridge's rate case.  

     Another issue is LRAM structure.  Well, as the Board would be aware, Enbridge has had an LRAM structure since 1997.  I believe that the electric LDCs have just had an LRAM approved.  My understanding would be that, in the context of this case, and in -- with the background I've just described, Enbridge has very little -- provided very little evidence on LRAM.  And yet, a framework issue in this case, as issue 5. -- 15.1 is proposed, is to be LRAM structure.  Again, in my submission, nothing was done to structure these issues so that they would be appropriate in the context of Enbridge's history with DSM, or Enbridge's proposal in this case.  Instead, it was just a repetition, insofar as the bullet points are concerned, of what was said in the Union settlement proposal.  Of course, I've already said the opening words about commonality, they were not repeated.  

     Now, moving ahead in the brief, if we may.  As I said, there are two pages of that extract from the settlement proposal.  And then I've included some letters that have been written to the Board arising from this -- I was going to say issue about framework issues.  

     And I should, even before embarking on these letters, indicate again, I'm new to this.  A number of these letters have been written, as can be seen here.  I only intended to refer to one or two of them.  But I included as many as I could put my hands on, to fill it out.  If I've overlooked anybody's letter, or left one out, it was not intentional.  Again, I don't pretend to have been directly involved in this debate about framework issues.  

     The first one that I've included is the CCC letter of April 8th, 2005, to the Chair of the Board.  So that's the next item at this tab.  And I just want, if I may, to ask this Panel to look at two aspects of this letter.  

     Perhaps, if I may, I should also set this in context before I go any further.  There is a debate arising from the Union case, about whether there should be some sort of joint or generic review of these so-called “framework issues.”  That, I don't understand to be part of the proposed issue 15.1.  I don't see that proposed issue 15.1 talks about anything that’s joint or generic.  So as I go through looking at these letters, I don't want to mislead the Board into thinking that I'm suggesting that the proposed issue has something to do with joint or generic review.  

     The reason I think these letters are valuable for the Board to look at is because the framing of the issue is so similar in relation to the use of word “framework issues”, and the use of the bullet points, that I submit to the Board, as you look at these letters, you will see that there is a real debate about what the scope of that is.  Granted, the debate is in another context in relation to a joint or generic review and whether that should occur, but, in my submission, the difference of opinion about the scope of the actual words applies equally to the words that are used in this proposed issues list.  So that is where I'm going, just so that everyone understands that I'm not in any way attempting to suggest that issue 15.1 itself goes to a joint or generic review.


So just looking, if we may, at page 2 of the CCC letter, and after the numbered paragraph 2, there is a paragraph beginning with the word “given”, and the sentence starting that paragraph says:

“Given that both EGD and Union are seeking approval in 2005 for multi‑year DSM plans, the CCC believes that it is essential that the Board examine a number of common DSM framework issues prior to a consideration of the individual plans.”


So this is, I think, important for the Board to have the context of what is talked about when the word “framework issues” -- words “framework issues” are used in the proposed issues list.


This is the debate around framework issues that is going on, and this is the context in which I think the Board needs to understand the words of the proposed issue 15.1.  Then it goes on to say:  

“Once the framework issues have been resolved, the individual plans can be tested.”


So this notion of framework issues, as CCC understands it and as I understand CCC's words, is that there will be a review of framework issues, whether generic or otherwise, and then a testing of plans against the framework.


Over on the next page, counsel describes what it believes would be included in the review.  That would be in the second last paragraph.  And if I can specifically refer to the second sentence of that paragraph, the counsel proposes that such a review include, but not necessarily be limited to, a catalogue of issues, which I won't read.


So, again, the context, in my submission, is that this framework, the way these words are being used, is something very broad and sweeping insofar as reviewing DSM is concerned, at least in the minds of one or more parties.


However, the next letter at this tab is the Green Energy Coalition letter of April 27th, 2005.  And without reading the letter in its entirety, essentially it appears, to me, that there is a difference of opinion as to what the scope of these framework issues is.


So the concluding words of the first paragraph of this letter are that:

“The approach suggested by CCC is neither in conformity with the intent of the recent settlement proposal nor a reasonable and practical alternative thereto.”


Then at the end of the next paragraph, it's indicated that the framework ‑‑ the opening statement makes clear that the agreement is intended to request a process focussed on enhancing commonality.  


So even in relation to the issues that were framed for Union, there is this difference of opinion as to whether it is a widespread review on an unlimited basis of all of these issues, or was the focus intended to be commonality?


Well, we have essentially the same description of issues.  We have the same general reference to framework issues in the proposed issues list.  We have the same list of sub-issues, but not the reference to commonality.


So the proposed issues list, in fact, goes one step beyond the concern that has arisen in this correspondence.  In other words, in this correspondence, there is a concern about, is it restricted to commonality or is it a widespread review?  Well, apparently, since the proposed issues list does not have this reference to commonality that the Union settlement proposal has, it is the wholesale review, notwithstanding some parties' understanding that what would happen on the Union side was not a complete wholesale review, but a review in relation to commonality.


So, in my submission, with the issue the way it's been framed as proposed issue 15.1, it's now left a real state of uncertainty and ambiguity as to where this is going.  On the Union Gas side, there is apparently a dispute about whether it is just focussed on commonality or broader than that.  On the Enbridge side, the issue isn't even framed with the commonality wording.  So is the notion now that something will be happening on the Enbridge side that will be even broader than on the Union side?


I will just, if I may, point out a couple of other excerpts from the GEC letter that I think highlight this apparent divergence about the scope of where this is all going.  So at the top of the second page of GEC's letter, there is a sentence indicating that:   

“CCC's request is not about reducing duplication and encouraging consistency.  Rather, it is an attempt to embark upon a wholesale review of the Board's numerous decisions, ADR acceptances and reports that underlie the current DSM framework.”


And so on.  I won't read the next sentence, but the point being that, as I've already indicated, the framework issues, as proposed in issue 15.1, seem to fall precisely into the concern expressed by GEC, that in the Union case the understanding ‑ at least of some parties ‑ was that the exercise would be one of reducing duplication and encouraging consistency, but in the minds of other parties, it's an attempt to embark on a wholesale review.  And, in my submission, the proposed issue 15.1 has, in fact, confirmed that in the minds of some parties it is a wholesale review, because the proposed issue 15.1 does not have the commonality language in it that the Union settlement proposal has.  So, in fact, GEC's very concern described here, I submit, is being fulfilled with the proposed issue 15.1.  


Now, again, as I said, I included most of the other items, just to make my best effort at pulling out the letters that I could get my hands on on this issue.  I apologize if it is not complete.  It is not my intention to go through all of them.


The next letter is one written by Mr. Hoi, and then following that is the letter written by counsel for VECC that I referred to in my other submissions on issue 9.19, just to make the Board aware of where that could be found.  I don't intend to repeat any submissions on 9.19, but that is where that letter that I referred to can be found.  


Then I would just like to refer to one other item, which is the last letter of this tab, if I may.  This last item is two pages at the end of tab 1.  It is IGUA's letter to the Board chair on the same subject that's been addressed in the other correspondence.  It is dated May 6th, 2005.


What I wanted to point out to the Board is just a small extract, page 2 of this letter, roughly halfway down the page.  At this point of the IGUA letter, you will see the statement:  

“Time should not be taken up debating the scope of matters in issue.  Rather, the emphasis should be on getting the multi‑year DSM framework evidence from EGD and Union and other parties' files as soon as possible.”


The reason I refer to this is that in case there was any doubt about what I've already said, which is that the company has not led framework evidence, at least to the extent contemplated by the proposed issue 15.1, in fact, one sees from IGUA's letter written in May, after the filing of the company's evidence in this case, that there is, in fact, an expectation that framework evidence will be needed from Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


This, of course, comes back to the concern I expressed when I listed the five points made by the company in opposition to issue 15.1, about derailing or sidetracking the company's DSM proposals for the test year and in the multi-year plan.  

     If it isn't apparent enough, just from looking at issue 15.1, that this would mean the filing of additional evidence by the company, and, potentially, by other parties, IGUA's letter appears to contemplate that evidence from the company to address these framework issues would be needed.   

     So those are my submissions.  Again, there were five points.  I won't repeat them.  But they have to do with the scope of the issue being far too broad.  The ambiguity of the scope of this issue, particularly as relates to what is going on in the debate about this possible joint or generic proceeding.  And they have -- and the company's five points also have to do with a very real concern about, if I can just use the words, “blowing up” the DSM issues in this case to such an extent that very important conservation and DSM efforts for the test year and beyond are sidetracked and -- at the very least, if not, worse, put into a retroactivity situation in the test year.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

    
MR. CASS:  So those are my submissions.

     Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville has a question.

     MR. SOMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, leaving aside the question of a generic hearing to deal with framework issues, is there -- if the issues in this case were to be limited to the commonality question, the one -- the question that appeared in the Union settlement agreement that related to the idea of aligning or providing commonality between the EGDI program and the Union Gas program, would you have -- what are your difficulties with that?  

     MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Sommerville.  I’d only speak from my personal experience.  In my experience, it's the commonality issues that, in fact, drive people to talk about joint and generic proceedings. 

     Now, I've certainly been in -- involved in Enbridge cases where discussion occurs about what happens with Union.  I've been involved in Union cases about -- where discussion occurs about what happens with Enbridge.  In my experience, that's an awkward issue to get into, in a case -- a rate case for only one of the two utilities.  That's my experience.  It ends up being very awkward, because you're hearing the perception of one utility about commonality issues with the other, but in just that one utility's rate case.

     So, in fact, my concern would be that the commonality part of it is very much the part that should not be addressed in this particular case.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So how would intervenors address elements of the DSM program under that -- with that in mind?  How would an intervenor in this case, for example, say, Well, you know, the EGDI program doesn't have it right in this particular or that particular.  How would we get to that in this case, if not through some such mechanism? 

     MR. CASS:  That's an excellent question, Mr. Sommerville.  May I -- might I just have a moment to consult?  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Of course.

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville.  

     First, in my submission, history suggests that commonality is something that's being achieved with the individual cases, the way they're proceeding.  And the example that's been suggested to me is that the LRAMs, that formerly were not aligned, through the course of the individual proceedings, have been moving much more in that direction.  So the commonality is occurring, without that having to be a distinct issue on an issues list in somebody's rate case -- in a particular rate case for one utility or the other.  

     And perhaps, if I could then just step back from that and address it at a higher level.  In the absence of a commonality issue being put forward on an issues list, I'm hard-pressed to think of why there is anything wrong with one company's witnesses being asked, Well, you know, is there a better way to do something?  Or, can you improve something?  

     And that can happen.  And that can achieve commonality.  I think the concern that I'm expressing is not that those things won't happen in individual rate cases, but to actually have commonality, itself, as an issue on one company's issues list -- for only that company's rate case.  

     So, things do occur that bring us closer to commonality in the individual rate cases, the way they work now.  It's a concern about commonality, itself, being a stated issue for one company's rate case, in the absence of the other company.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess -- you know, the value of the issues list is that it provides a specific structure for the interrogatory process and for the evidentiary process.  I'm wondering what sort of -- what -- how you see the limitations.  If this issue didn't go forward in any forum, if this issue was simply taken out of the -- taken off the issues list, what would the restraint or constraint be for the intervenors in asking questions about the existing DSM program?  What -- where would you say, Hey, that's a question that falls outside the structure of this case, that's a question that is outside the evidentiary -- relevance for the case.  Is there such a boundary?  

     MR. CASS:  Yes.  I'm going to consult on this in a moment, if you don't mind.  But if I might say, first, that the company has made a multi-year proposal.  This, in fact, appears to be, at least in part, driving some proponents to talk about framework issues.  Speaking for myself, I have no difficulty with parties testing the company's multi-year proposal.  In my mind, that is what this case would really be all about.  

     But to suggest that we have to know in advance that there is this whole list of broad, broad issues that the Board should hear, and all of us should deal with before anybody can test that proposal, I think is putting the cart before the horse, frankly.

I think the Board should proceed with the company's multi-year proposal, allow parties to test it, and the Board can determine for itself whether it felt that the proposal was adequately justified and tested, in the end result.  I don't think the Board needs to decide in advance of doing that, Well before we can even be sure that this is adequately tested, there is a whole catalogue of broad issues that we need to look into.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

     Can the parties let me know, now, who would like to speak in support of leaving issue 15.1 on the issues list.  Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Dingwall.  

     MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, your question was in support of Mr. Cass’s position of leaving it on -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Leaving it on the -- 

     MR. WARREN:  My client wishes to speak in support of it, leaving it on.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Ditto.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson. 

     Anyone else?  I have four. 

     Mr. Shepherd, maybe we’ll start with you this time.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR SHEPHERD:  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My submissions will be brief.  

     I think it's common ground amongst the parties that, in this rate case, no one wants a repeat of the EBO 1693, not because it wasn't fun, then, but rather, because we have to get rates before -- by January 1st.  

     And, in fact, I mean, in a practical sense, this debate about the issue may, in fact, really be just designed to sensitize the Board to the potential that talking about these things could get way out of hand, if we're not careful.  And that’s -- a lot of what Mr. Cass said was about that.  

     Having said that, I would like to turn to the issue itself, as my friend, Mr. Cass, did, and just look at whether these generic issues are raised in this application.  I'm not going to turn you to the particular evidence for things.  I'm just going to sort of comment on them generally.  I'm sure you can refer to the evidence as necessary, or my friends will correct me if I misspeak.


There are seven bullets here.  So the first bullet, the target and the budget, is an issue in every proceeding, is an issue in this proceeding, and, in fact, in this proceeding is particularly problematic, because the company's not proposing business as usual.  It's proposing, Let's change the paradigm, increase the budget considerably more than in the past and change how we set the target and what the target means; for example, having access to the DSM VA at 80 percent of target, having incentives not be driven by the target in the same way, et cetera.  


And, therefore, it is crystal clear that for the target and the budget, those issues, the issues of how you set a target and how you set a budget are raised by the application and in a way different from a normal year.


Then let's turn to structure of incentives.  The company has said, We've had an SSM, an incentive program, in place for a number of years and it's evolved over time.  We want to break with the past.  We want something completely different for the next three years.  


In our view, once they say that, how you design an incentive for the company is completely ‑‑ that all issues associated with it are engaged.


The third bullet is calculation of avoided costs and incentive payouts.  I'm assuming that the incentive payouts in this context refers, again, to the SSM.  I think incentive is one of those words that has some ambiguity in this context, but I'm assuming it refers to the SSM.  And it seems to me that once you raise the question of how you incent the company in a fundamental way, as the application does, issues of how you calculate avoided costs and how you calculate the incentive payouts are necessarily engaged, as well.


Similarly, on the fourth bullet, attribution, attribution is all about how you incent the company.  The attribution doesn't arise unless you have an incentive, and it arises in different ways depending on how the SSM is struck.


The fifth bullet, LRAM structure, it seems to me, is not engaged by the application.  The company has proposed business as usual.  And I, frankly, haven't heard anybody say we don't like the current LRAM, although my friends may correct me, and it may be just included in this list for completeness.


The sixth bullet, DSM VA structure is engaged in two ways.  First, the company has proposed a fundamental change in how they access the DSM VA, at 80 percent of budget instead of 100.  And, secondly, when you increase the budget dramatically, as they have proposed, then you necessarily raise the question:  How much, if any, swing money do they need?  Do they need another -- in this case, it would be $4 million of budget in 2006, or '7 or '8.  It's also a three‑year plan.  So that is necessarily engaged, as well.  


Finally, the audit protocol is driven primarily by the SSM and if you change fundamentally the structure of the SSM, you change how you approach auditing the results.


So it seems to me that if you just look at the seven bullets, except for LRAM structure, the company has asked the Board to look at those again in fundamental ways.  And, therefore, the Board has ‑‑ remember that we're not talking now about process in this proceeding.  


We're talking about what issues should be addressed in this proceeding.  The company's asked you to address these issues already.  It cannot now say to you, You can't address them.  Their application asked you to.  And, therefore, the only question is, I guess, how far do you go in considering those issues?  Do you actually go back to basic principles?  


And it seems to me the more fundamental the changes are they propose, the more you have to rely on basic principles and what the right principles are to determine what your decision is at the end of the day.  


Therefore, it seems to me that while the Board should be very sensitive to not letting this get out of hand, as the time goes on, it is self‑evident that these issues must be on the issues list in this proceeding.  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin has a question.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.  Mr. Shepherd, you helpfully went through the list and indicated why you felt the evidence made it self-evident they were issues.  I'm just wondering if you can comment.  It appears that some of those issues are then subsequently identified separately in the subsequent list, which I gather is not contested.  I'm just wondering if there is some distinction that I should be making.  


I guess as an example, you talked first about targets and budgets.  If I look at 15.2, that appears to be what's contemplated.  And, likewise, on incentives, 15.6 seems to ‑- seems to address that; likewise, 15.3 for attribution and 15.4 for the DSM VA.  I'm just wondering if I'm missing something in terms of the distinction you have made.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I, in fact, don't think you you're missing anything.  I think you're exactly right.  The ‑- how should I ‑‑


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess, then, to the extent those issues are there and are uncontested, what does the addition of 15.1 add?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, I suspect that if 15.1 weren't there, everything that I have just said we should discuss would be discussed in this hearing, because of the other issues that are already there.


Now, having ‑‑ because 15.1 has been proposed and because we are debating whether we can talk about basic principles, this Board, even if it takes 15.1 off the list, has to give us, I think, some guidance as to whether we can still talk about the principles.  Taking it off the list shouldn't mean we can't talk about the principles.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, why don't you speak next?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I would like to start, if I might, briefly with a point about the principle that I submit you should apply when determining whether matters stay on the list, get revised or removed.


I would like then to turn to the context in which this issue was proposed to be added to the list.  I should say that I'm the one who proposed that it be added to the list.  Maybe I should have kept my mouth shut, but ...

     And then, thirdly, I will come to my submissions as to why we believe it should stay on.  But whether it does or it doesn't, I agree that the topics that are covered by the ambit of issue 15.1 are encompassed, in large measure, by the topics that appear in issues listed below.


Let me try and deal with each of these topics in a little more detail.  First of all, with respect to the principle, my submission is that the principle that should guide you when determining whether a matter stays on, gets revised or comes off, is the principle of relevance.  Relevance to what?  Not simply to test year rates.


If the company's proposals, for which it is seeking explicit or implicit approval, extend beyond the test year ‑‑ and you do have a lot of features of this particular application which have implications beyond the test year, and the three‑year DSM proposal is one of those proposals.  So my submission is that if the matter listed in 15 ‑‑ the matters listed in 15.1 are relevant to any of the proposals before the Board in this particular case, then they should stay on the list, because the purpose is to frame questions by way of interrogatory, and frame responding intervenor evidence after there have been responses to interrogatories.  

     And I would submit that, if it's arguably relevant, the matter should stay on the list.  In other words, the onus is on those who advocate to take it off to persuade you that it is irrelevant to any matter raised in the application.  

     Turning to context.  Mr. Cass has very ably criticized the potential breadth of what the suggested wording was.  My only comment there is, at the issues conference, the company provided no constructive suggestions as to how to address breadth.  This is all coming forward now.  And so the wording may have been somewhat imperfect, but there was no company’s proposal to constrain the wording to what Mr. Cass thought was appropriate. 

     But other items of context here for this proposal are, first of all, the Board's -- not only the ADR agreement of last year, to which Mr. Cass referenced, but also a report of this Board that predated that ADR agreement.  The ADR agreement was dated June 17th of 2004.  And on March 1st, 2004, the Board reported to the Minister of Energy on demand-side management matters.  And at page 31 of that report on demand-side management in Ontario's gas sector, the Board said, in the first sentence -- 

“The Board believes that the DSM framework in gas could be improved.”  

So, that's one item of context that, I submit, needs to be taken into account when you're considering what was intended by adding this issue to the list 

     The Board goes on and addresses gas and electricity.  It concludes the symmetry between gas and electricity may not be appropriate.  And then goes on -- in terms of speaking generally, the Board is of the view that improved regulation of DSM activities is necessary to better manage the regulatory process, addresses three specific areas, commonality being one of them, and then reports that the Board intends to review the regulation of DSM gas activities by gas distributors.  

     So, proposals made subsequently by intervenors for process were made in the context of this report.  The last sentence in this section is --

“In the meantime, the Board will continue to oversee gas DSM and individual rate cases.”

So that is an item of context that Mr. Cass did not mention.  

     He then goes on and mentions the 2005 settlement agreement.  That was a settlement agreement that was made subsequently to this report coming out.  It only addresses 2005.  It calls for a multi-year plan to be prepared, but in the context of what has been said before by the Board, in its report to the Minister.

Next item of context - and Mr. Cass has made reference to it in his materials - was the process agreement that everybody, other than EGD, felt was appropriate.  And that's in the Union Gas proceeding, and the document pertaining to that is found in tab 1 of his brief, just after the excerpts that pertain to the 2005 settlement agreement.  

     I would like to just draw your attention to parts of this document, because Mr. Cass has made reference to an IGUA letter which, in my submission, misrepresents what that letter intended.  So if you wouldn't mind going to the partial settlement in the Union proceeding, which is the third page under tab 1 of Mr. Cass's brief.  And there, the parties -- all parties accept EGD - I’m at the bottom of page 5 - agree that consideration should be given to whether certain features of the DSM framework for Union and EGD should be the same for both utilities.  

     So it was a suggested process for dealing with this issue of commonality.  I agree with Mr. Shepherd, that the topics there listed are implicit in any proposal -- implicitly raised in any proposal for a DSM plan, whether it is one-year, three-year, five year or ten years.  

     But the focus of this deal, as Mr. Cass correctly points out, was trying to address these topics from a commonality perspective.  The word “framework” issues came from the Board's -- the word “framework” comes from the Board's report to the Minister.  That's its source.  

     And then we -- the parties agreed that the DSM framework issues for Union and EGD -- it wasn't some comprehensive DSM review for all gas utilities, for all utilities, generally, it was something to try and deal with the commonality as between Union and EGD efficiently.  And so we suggested it should be made in a joint proceeding in which EGD’s and Union's proposals are heard at the same time. 

     Then the agreement notes EGD's three-year DSM plan is already filed.  And we were waiting on Union's plan.  And the process then goes on, and suggests how we might get EGD's evidence on DSM framework issues, which, to my mind, is implicit in what is proposed in their three-year plan -- in other words, nothing further necessarily needs to be filed.  And evidence from Union before the Board in a joint proceeding. 

     And the second bullet point was a requirement that Union file its evidence with respect to DSM framework issues, i.e., these topics that had been listed above.  

     But the whole purpose of this was to encourage the establishment of a joint proceeding to deal with these issues of commonality in time so that it wouldn't prejudice Enbridge's desire to have rates in place for the test year commencing January 1, 2006.  And you will find that reflected in the agreement, in the first paragraph on page 6, where it is stated that:

“The goal was to have Union's plan filed early enough that a decision can be rendered prior to the end of 2005.”

So there was an element of promptness to this, in order for the efficiencies to be achieved.  

     And in my letter, to which Mr. Cass referred, which is under the next tab, on the second page, where he read the sentence:

“Rather, the emphasis should be on getting the multi-year DSM framework evidence from EGD and Union and other parties filed as soon as possible.”

I wasn't meaning to imply there EGD had to file something further.  There might be some severance from what they have already filed, or just go with what they had filed.  It was more directed to the evidence of people that had not yet been filed.  

     But the point that I wanted to just draw your attention to, in terms of promptness, is in the second-last paragraph where we say: 

“If the combined or joint hearing process is not established soon, then the opportunity to deal with these DSM framework issues in a joint or combined hearing for timely implementation and rates for EGD and Union will likely be lost passion."


So that is the context.  And one other element to be added to it is all the letters that are before the Board Chair Wetston  So the last element of the context is the parties are waiting on whether this joint proceeding is or is not going to be established in a timely manner.  And as of this point in time, nothing has happened.  Nothing has happened with respect to the suggested proceeding.  


So the issues list that you are considering for this case, in my submission, has to be based on that fact that nothing has happened yet with respect to the suggested proceeding.


So with that, I then come to our position as to why we thought it preferable to have what is on your list as list -- issue 15.1, and the simple reason is that the topics listed therein, in our respectful submission, are relevant to the DSM plan proposal that EGD has put forward in this case.  


The listing of them was not intended to try and inject into this case a comprehensive DSM review, which is the phrase that Mr. Cass ascribes to this issue.  It was simply an attempt to list elements of the plan that will be raised ‑- that are raised in this proceeding by the mere proposing of the plan, and, personally, I thought it best to list, rather than not list, because of this outstanding issue with respect to the request for a joint proceeding to deal with issues common to EGD and Union, framework issues common to EGD and Union.


Frankly, I don't see any prejudice to anyone by leaving the issue on the list in this particular context, but I take the point whether it stays on or whether it goes off, issues of commonality and all of the topics that are listed in the 15.1 can be questioned.  Parties can lead evidence in response if they wish.  And in that context, I guess I'm indifferent as to whether it stays on or goes off.  But, personally, my client feels it would be preferable to leave it on.


If nothing happens in terms of the suggested joint proceeding, if nothing happens soon, then the opportunity will be lost for efficiently dealing with the commonality question in a joint proceeding.  


So, in summary, our preference is to leave the topic on the list, but whether it stays on or comes off, the topics are still relevant to the particular DSM plan that the company has advocated in this case, and I agree with what Mr. Cass says in response to questions put by Mr. Sommerville, that questions put of commonality are within the scope of questions that can be posed to the company, whether this issue is on or off.  


So unless there are any questions, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Warren.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Thompson, in his characteristically generous fashion, has claimed fatherhood for this issue being on the list, but I feel I should share some of the blame, because the original impetus for the idea of a joint proceeding to consider framework issues was that of my client.  And it arises ‑‑ arose, as my friend Mr. Thompson has pointed out, from the Board's comments in its March 2004 report that suggested that commonality between the DSM programs of the two natural gas utilities was, if nothing else, an issue that ought to be considered.


In my client's view, one that we have maintained consistently for some time and have articulated in a number of contexts, there are substantial values to getting, to the extent we can, common approaches to DSM among the two natural gas utilities.  We believe, contrary to some of the demonology that has been raised about this, that there are in fact efficiencies that are gained if there is commonality.


Now, in the Union application for rates for its fiscal 2005, to which reference has been made, in that ADR agreement, we think it is important to stress, in looking at that agreement, two points.  With the exception Enbridge Gas Distribution, there was agreement ‑ not ambiguous agreement, unequivocal agreement - that there should be a joint proceeding to deal with common DSM framework issues for Union and EGD at the same time.  


There's been a certain amount of regrettable backsliding on that issue, but the agreement is unequivocal on that point.


Secondly, the proceeding - that is, the joint proceeding to which everyone, except EGD agreed - was to take place so as to have the issues heard and decided in time to be reflected in 2006 rates.


Now, there is, beyond question, disagreement as to what the scope of the framework issues are.  And that is a matter that will, we hope, be decided in the context of this joint proceeding.  It's not an issue -- that is, what the proper scope of the framework issues is, it not an issue which is relevant today.  


 Now, we have, our client has, and the materials provided by Mr. Cass, include a letter from my client dated April the 8th in which we have formally asked the Board to constitute that proceeding.  Enbridge takes the position that there should be no joint proceeding, but this Board, today, doesn't have to resolve, indeed cannot resolve, the question of whether or not there ought to be a joint proceeding.  This is an issue ‑‑ a decision that has to be taken by Mr. Wetston.  


But the issue was raised in the Union ADR, and, in our respectful submission, it would have been passing strange if there had been no reference to it at all in the Enbridge Gas Distribution case, if we had all collectively been silent about the intense debate and, indeed, about the agreement that there should be a joint hearing.


So, in our respectful submission - and I take a somewhat narrower view, I suppose, than my colleagues on the same side of this issue - the first point for having issue 15.1 on there is a kind of aide-memoire, to remind everybody that this joint proceeding is an issue which is alive before the Board.  And, as I say, it would have been very odd indeed if we had plunged into the Enbridge Gas Distribution case with its proposal for a three‑year DSM program without any reference to the discussion that everybody participated in, fewer than 30 days ago, in the context of the Union case.


So we support continuing to have issue 15.1 on the issues list for two reasons.  First of all, it is this reminder that there is, with the exception of Enbridge, an agreement among the major stakeholders -- indeed, as far as I know, with the exception of my friend Mr. Mondrow and some of the marketers, there is a uniform agreement among the stakeholders in the natural gas sector that there should be this joint proceeding to consider the nature and extent of the commonality.


So as that kind of aide-memoire, we think that the issue should remain on the list.  But, in addition, we think the issue should remain on the list, oddly enough, for the reason which Mr. Sommerville has alluded to, which is that having now been put on the list, if you take it off the list, there then gets to be a question about whether or not the issues of commonality should be raised.


I have a less sanguine view of Mr. Cass's position in this case than perhaps Mr. Thompson does.  What I see Enbridge trying to do is to radically narrow the scope of the enquiry in this case, to focus only on those elements of its three‑year DSM plan which are incremental to everything that says has gone in the past, rather than raising as a threshold all of the issues with respect to DSM, including the commonality issues.


In our respectful submission, it would be inconceivable to proceed with the consideration of the DSM issues in this case without regard to what has transpired in this province in the last couple of years.  We now have very significant investments, on the part of both levels of government, in support of DSM programs and in DSM initiatives.  We have very significant investment by a number of, if not all yet, the natural gas ‑‑ or electricity utilities in DSM programs.  


So issues of commonality and whether there ought to be, as a matter of public policy, greater or lesser commonality would be central to a consideration of this dramatic departure towards a three‑year plan.


So, in our respectful submission, what issue 15.1 does, which -- with great respect to my friend, Mr. Thompson, revered senior counsel, it may be somewhat infelicitously phrased in the sense that it doesn't actually use the word "commonality", but everybody in this room knows what it means, with the possible exception of Mr. Cass.  And I invite him to have a conversation with Mr. O'Leary, because Mr. O'Leary will say this is all about commonality.  So, in our respectful submission, everybody in the room knows what 15.1 is, which is whether or to what extent there is commonality or ought to be commonality with Union Gas on these issues.


In my respectful submission, because the issues are relevant and to go to Mr. Sommerville's -- if I can interpret the question correctly without attributing any particular position on it to him, if we take it off the issue ‑‑ the issues list there inevitably will be a debate about whether or not you can ask questions about commonality between Union and Enbridge on these issues.  There is no prejudice to anybody, in my respectful submission, particularly no prejudice to Enbridge Gas Distribution, leaving it on the issues list.


Let me make two points, finally, in conclusion.  The first point is we would urge the Board -- Mr. Wetston, I can't imagine why he would ever be listening to this proceeding, but if he were, we would urge the Board to make a decision on this common proceeding, because it is important, in our respectful submission, that to the extent we can, we convene the joint proceeding that everybody has agreed to in order to address these issues, because if we don't, what happens is that it inevitably will be considered twice, once in this case and once when Union file its case.  


But failing that, we have to be alive and sensitive to the fact that these commonality issues are relevant, immediately relevant, to the Enbridge case and should be left on the issues list.


Let me - my final point - respond to three of the issues that Mr. Cass has raised.  Mr. Cass wants to ascribe a very broad and restrictive meaning -- sorry, that's a contradiction -- a broad meaning which restricts our freedom arising out of the ADR agreement in Enbridge's 2005 fiscal case.  


Mr. Cass seems to think because everybody encouraged Enbridge to come forward with a three‑year plan, that we can't test that in some way.  I mean, the logical conclusion of that position is that we're all ‑‑ we all have to agree that a three‑year plan is a good idea and agree with its details.  Well, no one among the intervenors who signed on to that ADR agreement would ever have imagined that that was the reach of that agreement.


Secondly, Mr. Cass says that this is not an effective use of the Board's resources to consider these issues.  We think the most effective use of the Board's resources is to have the joint hearing, but it is certainly an effective use of the Board's resources to pursue the public policy implications and value of having commonality.  It would be a waste of the Board's resources if we were to take this issue off the table in the Enbridge case. 


Finally, and this is really kind of a vexing issues that arises all the time, my friend Mr. Cass says that somehow that the generally articulated support for conservation and demand management somehow weighs in in favour of his position on this issue.  Honest, well-intentioned citizens can look at the same phenomenon and have two different perspectives on it.  My client is a strong supporter of demand management.  My client also believes that demand management is best delivered when it is delivered in the most cost-effective way and that there is nothing wrong with this Board, in this case or in the joint proceeding, taking a look at whether or not we should re-think the delivery of some of these programs in order to ensure that they are delivered in the most cost-effective way.


So whatever statements the minister or anyone else may have made about this, don't militate in favour or against anybody's position.  Those are our submissions, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Dingwall.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Given that one of the central premises behind conservation and demand management or demand-side management, as it is known in this particular room, is the reduction of emissions.  I'll be brief.  CME was a party to the almost universal settlement within the Union case and, as such, is in support of the continued inclusion of issue 15.1 as it is framed. 


In taking a look at the procedural order in this case, we have a challenge.  If we're going to do anything in the context of this case, we have to have our interrogatories in by, I believe it is, the end of next week.  So, in suggesting that 15.1 stay as is, I do recognize, as others have said, that it is to some degree a placeholder and that the clarity of what is done with it and where will depend upon the response of the Chair to the submissions that have been made to him outside of this proceeding.


Therefore, it is my conclusion that the placeholder is necessary.  However, in whatever fashion might be possible, the placeholder becomes less useful the closer we get to the deadline for interrogatories, and process might have to take matters into its own hand at some point between now and then.  So, hopefully, in considering a response to this issue, the panel can give some direction as to how that timing concern can be addressed in order to ensure that what might or might not happen in another room doesn't preclude anything from happening in this room, if this is where it is going to be.


MS. NOWINA:  Those are your submissions, Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much.  Are there any parties who would like to speak in favour of removing the issue from the list?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, Pollution Probe is kind of neutral in the middle, so I just have a couple of comments from that perspective.


MS. NOWINA:  Sure.  Go ahead.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Pollution Probe was a party to the agreement in the Union case and so agreed to support of the process therein, but other people have mentioned that an intrinsic part of that was a time concern; namely, that the process not delay DSM for January 1st, 2006, nor that it result in retroactive rates.


Since then, there has been some time passed, so I somewhat differ from my friend, Mr. Warren, when he says there's been backsliding.  I think, instead, it's been a case of worrying about whether the time has closed some options.


Pollution Probe is very concerned if any sort of addition of issues to the issues list results in delays to the implementation of DSM program for January 1st, or if there is some other attempt to have some kind of other procedure that somehow sidetracks DSM.


I believe the hearing schedule proposes July 18th for ADR and I'm just not sure whether, from a practical point of view, anything -- any other kind of procedure can be created or adopted that can survive those time frames, given the Board's schedule and what happens when you have various procedures ‑‑ additional procedural steps.  So it is a very strong practical concern.


I may disagree with my friend, Mr. Warren, when he says that the support of Energy Minister Duncan for DSM, or the Premier for that matter, doesn't push us in any direction.  I think it pushes us in a direction that would result in implementing DSM without retroactive rates on January 1st.  If there is a way to do this without putting the programs and their implementation at risk, then we don't have a problem with it, but it is a very strong concern, in my submission.


Mr. Sommerville asked about whether commonality and comparisons can be addressed in the normal process.  I think the answer is "yes".  That's what Pollution Probe has been doing for many years, as well as other parties, and we often, in cross‑examination or in evidence, say, Well, look, this is being tried over there and it works, or this is over there.  Do it like that, but a little different.  And I suppose you could call that evolutionary convergence, and it happens case by case.  It has happened on many issues quite dramatically, in my submission.  


So there is no reason that can't go on in this case, and perhaps that means moving towards commonality or uniformity on some issues, or not on others.  But that can all be discussed in the normal framework.


I note many of my friends speaking in favour of this have referred to it as a placeholder or an aide-memoire and said, you know, it's not intended to be comprehensive, and that is useful and significant and that may be -- in our submission, that is key, that whatever happens, it not, you know, postpone effective DSM.  That saves customers money for January 1st.  So those are the submissions for Pollution Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Does anyone else have submissions?


MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, can I just ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, before -- can we get Mr. Poch's submission first.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  First of all, Madam Chair, I adopt and support what Mr. Klippenstein has just said.  I would note GC was part of the group that signed on to the request to the Board for some form of joint process in the context of the Union case.  And it was our hope, in doing so, that that was going to result in Union bringing forward its DSM plan for the 2006 -- at least a plan for a framework for the 2006 period and onward, in some expedited fashion, so that we could wrestle with it and that aspect of Enbridge's proposal at the same time.  It was -- simply, it seemed to make sense to us that was going to shorten the process, enhance commonality.  


This all occurred before the procedural order in this case.  We're now at the point where we've had a procedure order.  We're moving quickly into this case.  We don't have anything from Union yet, nor have we a response from Mr. Wetston, and we're probably at the point of faint hope that we can have that kind of a joint process in a timely way.  


But, nevertheless, I think it is clear, from the flavour of the comments you have heard today, the inclusion of 15.1 here was a kind of a placeholder, should we somehow be able to wedge in that consideration.  And to that extent, we don't object to it, if it truly is just to that extent.  


And I say we don't object to it, bearing in mind the comments we've made in our correspondence with the Chair of the Board, that we interpret that request for a joint process to be a narrow one, to be one focussed on looking for opportunities to enhance commonality and for joint hearing where hearing is required; for example, on how we move to a three‑year from a one-year plan.


I am concerned, though ‑‑ first of all, I should say I am comforted by the fact that Mr. Warren, today, used the word “commonality” a good dozen times when describing what that Union agreement was all about.  But when I look at the correspondence from the Consumers Council, his client, to the chairman of the Board, which is included in my friend Enbridge's materials, it seems to me that the joint process being requested there goes far beyond one of, you know, looking for commonality, when that list, the list included in Ms. Huzar's letter, my friend Mr. Warren's client, talks about the need for incentives and the need for DSM VA.  We're not talking about whether we -- how we tinker with these things, change them to make more fitting for the times.  We're talking about going back and having a much more fundamental review, and so that's what makes me nervous and makes my client nervous.


That is the context.  So when we look at the list, as proposed, as has been pointed out in response to Ms. Chaplin's question, virtually all of the items listed in 15.1 are already captured and, in fact, captured I think in a more descriptive fashion in the subsequent items.  


I won't say how they're already captured.  I think that is already on the record.  What I will point out is the additional elements that 15.1 purports to add and that raise some alarms for me.  15.1, first of all, adds a preamble, that Mr. Cass has spoken to, that is rather open‑ended.  Again, if it is simply because we want a placeholder that, should the Board so direct, Union joins the party and we get some greater value out of this process, then that's great.  But as it stands, it is a really wide-open preamble.


Second, the list includes calculation of avoided costs.  This, from our review of the evidence to date, is not a live issue in this case.  I don't think there is any significant change proposed in how the award of costs should be calculated.


Third, LRAM structure, I don't think there is any proposal, on the table, to change the LRAM structure.  And I would point out that the LRAM structure for Enbridge and Union are virtually identical to begin with.


And, third, audit protocol, I don't believe there is any significant proposals with respect to that, although there may be necessary changes to particulars of the audit protocol that flow from changes in the SSM regime, or what have you.


So I would argue that items 15.2 to 15.8 already capture all the live issues.  All that is really needed, if indeed at all, is some kind of a placeholder should we ‑- should the Board choose to wedge in more in response to the request coming out of the Union case, and I would suggest that there might be more elegant ways to word this so that the Board ‑‑ we're not leaving open the possibility of someone expanding this case into a wholesale review of whether we need to have incentive regulation for DSM, for example.


I would propose that we could substitute, without ‑‑ I don't suggest we get into a wordsmithing exercise, but the gist of what the Board may wish here is something like:  Instead of 15.1, we -- as presently worded, we simply have an issue that says:  Any additional issues of commonality, other than those implicit in items 15.2 through .8, should the Board so direct in response to the Union 2005-0211 item 3A, ADR request.


Now, in choosing those words, I am acknowledging, I think, that it is entirely appropriate, in examining Enbridge's current proposal for DSM VA change, what have you, one of the elements the Board is entitled to look into in this case is, How does that compare to -- and the parties are entitled to question is, How does that compare to Union's?  Is it better?  Is it worse?  Are we introducing a list complication if we're having two different regimes, what have you?


I don't disagree with my friends that commonality is always an appropriate consideration.  I just would hate to see ‑‑ I don't enjoy the idea of an open‑ended preamble here which could invite some very wide‑ranging evidence from other parties and difficulties in managing this process.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I'm just going to take submissions from anyone else who would like to remove 15.1 before I come back to you, Mr. Thompson.  Is there anyone else?  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  VECC's position is the issues raised in proposed issue 15.1 ought to be the subject of a generic hearing.  As others have said, the issues will have to be adjudicated in any event, and to do so separately in EGD's application and again in Union's application will result in significant duplication and, more importantly, the possibility of conflicting results.  We would argue that is precisely the reason why the parties to the ADR agreement agreed to request the generic hearing.  And we believe that is the proper approach to take. 

     Those are our submissions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  

     Any other submissions on that point? 

     Mr. Thompson?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     Just before Mr. Cass replied.  Again, as the author of the words that were dropped in here -- having heard the submissions, I put forward for your consideration - I've discussed this with Mr. Warren, but not anyone else - perhaps the addition of this phrase at the beginning of this issue would make it clearer, and I would suggest something like: 

“The extent to which commonality between EGD and Union is appropriate with respect to --”

And we would have DSM framework issues.  Probably should delete the phrase “for a multi-year plan”, because commonality applies whether it is multi-year or sole year.  But that wording would, I think, more accurately reflect what IGUA intended, and, I believe, which Mr. Warren supports.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

     Mr. Cass, would you like to reply?


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS: 

     MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     I've taken up a lot of the Board's time already this afternoon, so I’ll try to be quick.  

     I have a few points. 

     Mr. Shepherd, in his submissions, made the point - which I believe we probably all have in the back of our minds - that an issue like this does have the potential to get out of hand, if we're not careful.  I think those were, more or less, Mr. Shepherd's words. 

     In my submission, that’s the nub of the problem.  I submit to the Board that the issues list, in fact, is what does control issues, and does give anybody in this room any comfort that things can be kept from getting out of control.  In my submission, once something is on the issues list, subject to the issues list being changed at some future point, it is virtually out of anyone's control to try to bring things back, if the scope appears to be, essentially, getting the case into a situation where there is concern about retroactivity, or concern about completing the case in order to implement DSM plans for 2006.  

     So, in my submission, it is the issues list that gives control over where cases go.  And a couple of parties - I think Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren - said, Well, they don't see any prejudice to keeping it on.  Well, that is the prejudice.  The prejudice is that -- this concern that it could get out of hand if we're not careful, is one that goes directly to the issues list.  And if it is not dealt with through the issues list, then that’s where the prejudice arises.  

     Now, I must confess, I've been told I'm the only person in the room - and for that I apologize - but I do, in my defence, want to say that I certainly have difficulty reading an issue the way that some of the other parties who’ve made submissions have read the issue.  

     I think a number - more than one - quite fairly conceded that virtually or all of the relevant issues arising from Enbridge's proposed plan would be covered under 15.2 to 15.8.  And the question that arises, and that has been addressed, is:  What does 15.1 add?  

     Well, when I read 15.1, I read it as standing at a higher level than the specific plan proposed by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Now, if I'm the only one in the room that does that, I apologize.  But that's the way the words appear to me.  It's DSM framework issues for a multi-year plan.  

     And then it draws in a reference to Union Gas Limited settlement agreement, and then it puts out seven generic bullets.  There's nothing there, that I can see - and I apologize for missing this - that makes it anything other than some generic review that stands above the particular plan that Enbridge Gas Distribution has proposed.  

     And that, in my submission, is the company's major difficulty with issue 15.1.  The specifics of what the company has proposed can be addressed under 15.2 to 15.8.  That's what we've heard so far today.  So if 15.1 is adding anything, what it seems to be is an effort to address, not the specifics of the company's multi-year plan, but just principles and framework issues around multi-year plans, generally.  A multi-year plan.

Sorry, I'm just looking at my notes.  I only have a very few points, and I won't take too much of the Board's time.  

     Yes, then in the same context about the interpretation of the issue, I accept the criticism that’s been directed at me for not understanding that, in Mr. Warren's submission, the issues of commonality are central to 15.1.  Again, in my defence, I would suggest to the Board, if you compare 15.1 to what was in the Union settlement proposal, the commonality is the one element that’s missing.  In fact, the issue is more or less the same, except commonality has been removed.  

     And then, following from that point, we hear the concern that, If this issue is taken off issues list, what will happen with issues about commonality?  Well, there’s nothing in it about commonality.  So, again, although apparently I'm the only one that’s missing this, the issue doesn't talk about commonality.  Comparing it to the issue -- or, sorry, the Union Gas settlement proposal, it makes it very clear that it seems to be something -- or, anything but commonality.  And in my submission, the Board need have no concern about what it will do to questions about commonality to remove something that doesn't talk about it.       
Now, Mr. Thompson said that the test for the Board to apply in determining whether something should remain on the issues list is, fundamentally, relevance.  Well, I would suggest that perhaps there should be a little more to it than that.  

     If we start with the proposition that issues 15.2 to 15.8 do, indeed, cover what the parties would expect to see in order to appropriately test the company's multi-year proposal, surely it's not enough just to say, Well, is 15.1 relevant?  Surely, we should also ask ourselves, then, Why do we have 15.1?  If it doesn't add anything, it's redundant. 

     If it does add anything, in my submission, what it is adding is taking this review to this higher level, which is one of principle, standing apart from any particular DSM plan, and, most particularly, standing apart from the plan that is at issue in this case.  If it's adding anything to issues that have already been said to be adequate to allow testing of the plan, then where else can it be going, but turning this into an examination of broader principles that are not tied to the particular plan in issue in this case?  

     Again, as I said in argument in-chief, surely the Board should hear the evidence, decide for itself whether the company has satisfied its onus of justifying the plan, decide for itself what others have done in testing that plan, without making a prejudgment that, in order for the Board to do that, we have to rise to some higher level and have a -- potentially, a wholesale review of DSM, in order for the Board to make that ultimate determination.  

     If, at the end of the case, the Board is not satisfied that the company has proved the merits of the plan, or if the Board has views about how the plan has been tested, the Board can express that.  In my submission, it’s not necessary to decide, in advance, that we have to have this high-level, principled review of all these aspects of DSM, in order for the Board to come to that ultimate conclusion about what it would decide in respect of this particular plan.  

     And those are my submissions in reply. 

     Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

     Before we break for lunch, maybe I can get your opinion on how long it will take us to discuss the remaining issue, the issue on 300 rates.  And you might be comparative, compared to this discussion on DSM.  How long do you think it should take?

Mr. Cass, do you have any idea?     

     MR. CASS:  I will not be any more lengthy in my submissions, probably more or less the same.  I would think the timing is primarily determined by how many will have submissions, in total.

MS. NOWINA:  How many will have submissions in total? 

     About the same number, a little bit more.  

     All right.  Why don't we break for lunch until 2 o'clock, and aim very diligently to complete the process by 4 o'clock this afternoon.  

     MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, with your permission, I’ll excuse myself, as I'm not involved in that issue. 

     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine. 

     MR. POCH:  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:00 p.m.       


--- On resuming at 2:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated everyone.  Let's make sure we're on the air.  Does everyone hear me?  All right.  So we're going to resume the proceeding this afternoon to talk about issue 18.3, timing and changes to all aspects of EGDI's rate 303, 305, 310 and 315 rate schedules.  Just a reminder as we get into this, this is almost the last thing we want to talk about.  When we're finished this, we do want to go back and see if there are any general issues around the issues list.  I believe we had at least one submission on that.


So, Mr. Cass would you like to begin?

ISSUE 18.3:


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Unlike the previous two issues, the submissions I'll be making to the Board about proposed issue 18.3 don't, in any particular way, turn on the wording of the issue.  Madam Chair, you have read out the wording of it, so I will just move straight into my submissions, without any more attention to precisely how it is described in the issues list.


In order to present my submissions, I would ask that the Board panel members, if they could, turn up Exhibit K0.1.  And in that regard, the items I will be relying on are found at tab 2 of the exhibit.


 If I might, just to introduce the first document at tab 2, remind the Board panel that one of the issues in Enbridge's fiscal 2005 rate case was some proposed cost allocation changes in respect of upstream costs and rate design implications that flowed out of those.  For certain, these changes had significant impacts on essentially large-volume customers, I think it would be fair to say.  


And in the settlement proposal in the fiscal 2005 case, there was an agreement to a methodology for implementing the changes on a differential basis for customers, and that is what is set out at the first page of tab 2, is an explanation of that differential phase-in.


Now, what is relevant, particularly relevant, on this page for today's discussion is the sentence at the bottom of page 51, in which it was agreed - this was a full settlement - that the company would, for the next rates case, that being this case, consider changes to all aspects of its 300, 305, 310 and 315 rate schedules, including consideration of some specific matters.


Now, in the company's evidence in this case, it explained what it did to comply with that agreement to consider changes to those particular rates.  So the first two pages at tab 2 of the brief are the excerpts from the settlement proposal, and then immediately following that is just an extract from the evidence in this case, explaining how the company ‑‑ I'm sorry, complied with the settlement proposal.  


There's a chronology of a review process that the company went through, including meetings with stakeholders and retainer of a consultant.  I won't go through that in any detail, but that's explained in the first two pages ‑‑ first two or three pages of this extract from the evidence.


Then following that - I'm now looking at page 11 of 12, paragraph 29 - there is an explanation of four different reasons why, in respect of the 2006 rate case, the company is not in a position, at this time, to actually put forward a specific new rate design for these particular rates.  


I won't read the four reasons, but they're set out there in the bullets that form part of paragraph 29.  The first one has to do with significant gaps between what the company proposed and what potential power generation customers desired.  The second one had to do with the company's inability to develop conceptual framework without further information, and so on.


So as a result, the company has complied with the settlement proposal, in that it has considered changes to the rates, but for the reasons set out in paragraph 29, the company does not, at this time, have a specific rate design proposal in respect of those rates.  


This was explained not only in the evidence, but also in the company's covering letter that accompanied the application to the Board.  I think perhaps Ms. DeMarco included that covering letter in her materials.  It essentially says what I've just described.


The company's position is that the rate ‑- if I can just call it the rate 300 series, just to simplify it.  It's in fact only the four specific rates that are described, but I will call it the rate 300 series.  


It's the company's position that the Board's consideration of the design for those rates should be put on a separate track from the main rate case so that it can be addressed as soon as the company is in a position to make a rate design proposal.  That was what the company explained in its covering letter to the Board, and also at tab 2, just following the evidence extract I've referred the panel to is a letter written by the Board on this issue.


And, essentially, as I understand the letter, the Board accepted the notion that this rate 300 series review would not proceed in this main part of the case, but -- I'm using my own words here, not the Board's words -- but would, in fact, proceed on a separate track.  


In the second paragraph of the letter, you will see a reference to the evidence that I just took the panel to.  The Board notes that the approach to this issue will be affected by policy direction stemming from the natural gas forum process.  And as I'm sure this panel is aware, coming from out of the Board's natural gas forum report, one of the next steps was, I think it would be loosely called, a gas electricity interface review.  And just going by recollection from the report, it was ‑‑ it is my recollection that that was one of the higher priority items for the Board coming out of the natural gas forum report. 


In any event, there is a process that the Board contemplates around what needs to be done to meet the needs of gas‑fired electricity generators, and that also is an element that is important in the context of this issue around 300 series of rates.


So in the final paragraph on the first page of that letter, the Board indicates its understanding that there isn't an urgency for a rate ‑‑ for a redesigned rate 300, given the next steps anticipated in the natural gas forum report.  


At the conclusion of the letter, on the next page, the Board indicates its expectation that the rate 300 series will not be an issue in the 2006 test year proceeding.  However, parties will have an opportunity to address this on issues day.  


Just for clarity, again, from the company's point of view, it is not in any way a suggestion that the rate 300 series will not be addressed promptly when it can be done.


It is, instead, a suggestion that it can't be done now.  The company does not have a rate design proposal for consideration by the Board, for the reasons set out in the pre-filed evidence.  So it is to put it on a separate track so that it is not confined to the schedule of the main rate case.


Now, in relation to the proposed issue for the issues list in this case, given the reasons that the company has stated for putting this issue on a separate track, the company does have a concern that there is little or nothing that can be done productively on this issue at this time.

However, if others insist that there's -- something needs to be addressed now, as part of the main case, rather than in a separate part of the proceeding, the company certainly can't argue against the notion that it would be appropriate to have an issue to look at the company's agreement in the settlement proposal from the fiscal 2005 case, and what was done to comply with that, and where the issue is going.  

     Again, it’s not at all clear to the company that that’s -- that there’s anything productive to be gained out of that, because, essentially, it's a lack of information to fully design the rate at this time.  In the company's view, it would be more productive to await that information, and then proceed with the issue as promptly as can be done.  However, it's certainly not the company's position that, if people wanted to have that type of inquiry, as a follow-up to the settlement proposal from last year, that that would be inappropriate for the issues list.  

     In other words, it’s really an issue of scope, if anything.  The company, subject to its concerns about how productive it would be, does not object to an issue that is scoped to be a review of what's been done and where things are at this time.

However, if the issue is scoped in a way that suggests we're now going to proceed, in this main part of the case, with issues around the design of these 300-series rates, that's where the company submits that it would be inappropriate to frame an issue of that nature, the main reason being that, for the reasons set out, the company has not got a proposal for the Board to consider at this time.  

     Now, for the purposes of my submission, I do have to address, in some manner, what I would describe as two different groups.  But I wish to stress at the outset that in doing this, the company doesn't, in any way, consider that any group is more important than another.

     The two groups that I'm talking about are, first of all, those existing customers who, in the context of the settlement proposal from the fiscal 2005 case, are looking for the company to proceed with a redesign of these 300-series rates.  The other group is the prospective power-generation customers, in respect of which the company would also be looking to design the rate -- the 300-series rates in an appropriate manner.  I don't wish to belittle the importance of each group.  The existing customers are important; however, given the direction of the RFP issued by the government, and the government's aim to find sources of generation, the prospective power-generators, also, are very important.  

     So the difficult position the company is in is, it needs to design a rate that is suitable for everyone who might look for service under these rates -- under the 300-series.  Yet, at this point, it doesn't have sufficient information to do it for the prospective power-generators.  This means that, for the company to even try to proceed at this point, it would effectively be designing a rate for a subset of what it ultimately expects the customers to be, that would call for service under these rates.  This is the reason, first of all, why the company doesn't have a proposal at this time, and second, why the company says it's not appropriate to have the overall rate design issue on the issues list at this time.  

     Much as existing customers might wish the company to get on with it, and much as that the company understands the importance of that, the company has to design a rate, not just for a subset, but for everyone who will be looking to take service.  And it simply can't do that at this point in time.  

     Now, having said that, I also want to clarify, in relation to the existing customers who might have an interest in the 300-series rates, just how significant that group might be, so that the Board will have a better understanding of it.  I'm sorry if this makes it a little bit complicated, but I think it is important for the Board to understand the situation of the existing customers who might be candidates under the 300-series of rates.  

     Again, coming back to the cost-allocation issue from last year, the effect of the differential phase-in is that, until the phase-in is complete, certain customers are effectively not being called upon to pay 100 percent of their upstream cost allocations through the mechanism of that phase-in.  

     Now, within the large-volume customers, there is a subset - rates 115 and 170 - that essentially achieve the benefit of that phase-in, in that it allows them not to immediately incur the full impact of the 100 percent cost allocation.  And they also have retention of the TCPL toll credit -- sorry, there is a retention of the TCPL toll credit for them, but an overlapping and larger subset of customers, those being the Ontario T-service customers.  So, for this group, bundled rates essentially continue to be attractive for them, until this phase-in is complete.  

     Now, it is true that there are some large-volume customers in rate 110 who have not been fully phased-in --who have been fully phased in, I'm sorry, and, therefore, are now at 100 percent of their upstream allocation.  And they don't receive the TCPL toll credit, because their transportation arrangements are managed by the company -- in other words, they're Western T-customers.  The point of all this is, that this is a relatively small group, in the scheme of things:  I think it is approximately 100 customers, in total, that are in that group.  

     On the other hand, the four-year differential phase-in is essentially having the vast majority of small-volume customers continuing to bear in excess of 100 percent of their share of these upstream costs.  As well, in addition -- to the extent that there are some of these Western

T-service customers that would wish to migrate to Ontario

T-service, to get the benefit that I've referred to through 2007, being the period of the phase in, the company could accommodate their requests, to the extent that it can do so without negatively impacting other customers.  

     In a nutshell, yes, there is an existing group of customers that have a concern about proceeding with the redesign of the 300-series of rates, but, in my submission, that does need to be put into context, because, of the large-volume customers, there is a large group that continues to receive the benefit of the differential phase-in and the T-service credit.  

     So, having said all of that, I think I really have little more to do other than to summarize.

     The company believes that the introduction of a redesigned unbundled rate should meet the needs of all customers who would choose to take that service, for the reasons discussed in the evidence.  The company's not in a position to do that at this time.  

     In the company's submission, rather than forcing the issue on to the issues list in terms of overall rate design, as opposed to the more narrow issue that I described, and thereby requiring it to proceed at a point where, essentially, the information isn't available and the company doesn't have a proposal, is not the best process to bring this to a resolution.  The better process would be to allow the stakeholders to continue their discussions that are described in the pre-filed evidence and that I just very briefly alluded to, with a view to having a rate design ‑‑ re-design proposal before the Board as quickly as possible, and one would expect before the end of 2006, at which the full issue can be given its proper consideration.  By the “full issue”, I mean the rate design issue.


So, I hope I -‑ I hope that is clear.  That is the company's submission in respect of the proposed issue 18.3.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, you've described a subset of the potential customers for this rate who are ‑- who do find themselves in a position where the unbundled rate -- they have been basically fully processed through that exercise, and the unbundled rate would, in fact, be attractive to them or could be attractive to them.


Is there some interim measure?  Is there something that you can do in the interim to address that, that element?  Part of the consideration of the rate has been the identification of this subset.  Did your consideration go beyond that to some consideration of what the rates ought to be for those customers?


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Mr. Sommerville.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I'm reminded of something that I should have made clear, and I'm sure the Board understands.  These rates do exist.  The company has looked at some changes that would make them more attractive.  Again, though, the difficulty is to redesign them in a way that would be sufficiently attractive to meet the needs ‑‑ or to -- I shouldn't say sufficiently attractive, but to re-design them in a way that is appropriate for the whole set of customers who might take service under these rates is not something that the company can do.


So, yes, there are some changes that might make them more attractive, but it is not the complete re-design.  It would be like a temporary re-design of a rate, knowing that it hasn't taken into account the full considerations that one would want in the final rate.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to ask a follow-on question to that, Mr. Cass.  So the customers that we're talking about who have completed this fully phased‑in allocation process, that's the rate 110 customers; is that correct?


And I believe you mentioned that they might have the opportunity to move to one of the other 100 rate classes, for example, 115 or 118, which might be more attractive to them.  Is that what you suggested?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  It's whether they're western T or Ontario T, and the point was that some of them ‑‑ it's the western T fully phased‑in that are in the position that I referred to, this small group of customers.  And there could be a potential for at least some of them to migrate from western T to Ontario T.


MS. NOWINA:  Does western T have a rate class number and Ontario T have a different class number, or they're within the same rate class?


MR. CASS:  The western T or Ontario T, it's a type of service, but they could be different rates.  The western T or Ontario T is a function of where they provide the gas.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  But there is an opportunity for some customers to ‑‑


MR. CASS:  There is some opportunity there.


MS. NOWINA:  ‑‑ to move in that.  Thank you.  I think we will go on, then, to other submissions.  I'm not going to try to divide these submissions, people who are taking a pro or con stance, because I think the matter is a little bit greyer than that.  So if I could get people to indicate to me that they would like to make a submission, we will see how long the list is, and then we will decide on the order.  Ms. DeMarco.  Ms. Young.


MS. YOUNG:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Stacey.  Anyone else?  Fine.  Let me start with you, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  The intervenors have agreed that Ms. DeMarco ‑‑ at least IGUA has agreed that Ms. DeMarco and Ms. Young would precede us.  They have subscribed to that agreement, but I don't know about Mr. Dingwall, and so on.


MS. NOWINA:  That would be fine with me.  If everyone is agreed on an order, I would be happy to take that order.  So we'll start with Ms. DeMarco, then.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DEMARCO:  I guess I'm on the hot seat.  Before I go into my submissions proper, there should be a book of materials before you that's entitled, “The Book of Materials of TransAlta Cogeneration L.P. and TransAlta Energy Corp.”


MR. BATTISTA:  We'll give that book of materials an exhibit number, and that will be K0.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K0.4:  BOOK OF MATERIALS, TRANSALTA.

MS. DEMARCO:  Before I go further into that, I must admit that my ability to count to five last night was a bit compromised in the wee hours, so one or two of the books I have come across only have a tab 4.  I wonder if the panel and the Board members could verify that they do in fact have ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  We do have tab 5.


MS. DEMARCO:  I hope it is not a foreshadowing of my submissions today.


MR. BATTISTA:  The exhibit will be called Book of Materials, TransAlta.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Battista.


MS. De MARCO:  You will find a considerable amount of overlap in both the book of materials of Enbridge and what you've got before you from TransAlta.  Interesting that we have different perspectives on the same material.  I'm sure you're shocked.  Basically TransAlta will be making three main submissions in support of the inclusion of the issues on the issues list.


The first is that the inclusion of this issue, in this forum, is necessary to implement the settlement agreement in the RP-2003-0203 proceeding.


And the second main submission is that notwithstanding the Board's intention to deal with broad, unbundling policy issues in the natural gas forum, gas electricity infrastructure proceeding, and notwithstanding the company's current status of rate 300 re-design, the status and timing of the changes to that series is appropriately considered in this rates case, as it impacts a broad range of customers and ratepayers in this proceeding.


And our third and final submission is that there is some urgency associated with these rate changes as a result of the considerable rate impacts that existing ratepayers are facing in this case through the upstream transportation of cost phase‑in.


So with those being our three main submissions, I will proceed to my first, which is that it is necessary to implement  -- hearing this issue in this context is necessary to implement the settlement agreement in RP-2003-0203.


And I guess I would like to take you, if I might, to virtually the same portions of the settlement agreement that Mr. Cass has taken you to, which are found at tab 1 of our materials, and, in particular, the last paragraph of page 51 of 59, where the settlement agreement expressly indicates that the company agrees that for the next rates case ‑ that being this case ‑ it will consider changes to all aspects of its 300, 305, 310 and 315 rate schedules, including consideration of the following matters. 


And three specific matters are itemized on the next page, that being 52 of 59.  The first is combine multi-facility delivery, storage and load balancing options.  The second is flexibility and delivery point, minimum annual volumes, daily delivery obligations, provision of fuel and choice between bundled and unbundled services, and the last being return on differentiated rates.


There were a number of parties, including my client, TransAlta, that relied heavily, very heavily, on the inclusion of this portion of the agreement in order to settle the issue and, particularly, they relied on the assurance that this potential mechanism for rate mitigation would be examined promptly in this case.  To put it bluntly, TransAlta believed that the 300-series issues would be revisited in this case, and relied upon the express wording in order to agree to settle the issue last year.  

     As a result, the Board -- TransAlta submits that the Board should ensure that the settlement agreement is implemented, and the issue is considered here.  

     There are some broad standing implications, if, through the lack of inclusion on the issues list, this issue isn't considered in this proceeding.  Specifically, it will potentially affect parties’ conduct in future settlement agreements, wherein the terms are expressly indicated, they're relied upon to settle an issue and they are not then adhered to, or implemented, in subsequent rate proceedings.  So on that basis, we would certainly urge the Board to include some semblance of the issue in the context of this particular proceeding.  

     Our second submission is that, notwithstanding both the Board's policy form in relation to the gas electricity infrastructure and the current status of the company's rate 300-series proposals, it is appropriate to have the issue included and considered in this proceeding.  

     Now, in making that submission, TransAlta is cognizant of both the early state of the company's 300 rate redesign and the Board's intention to deal with broader policy issues regarding unbundling in the gas electricity-related, Natural Gas Forum proceeding.  

     I've excerpted the relevant provisions of both Enbridge's letters, at tab 2, and the Board's letter, at tab 3.  And if I can ask you to turn to tab 2, the last page of Enbridge's letter refers specifically -- there's a -- the relevant portion is marked.  It refers, specifically, to the status and the associated delay being advocated by the company.  In particular, there is reference to what may happen in relation to the ultimate redesign of this series, following tangential reference to the Board's actions in relation to the subsequent design or review criteria.  We take that to mean, in relation to what is coming out of the Natural Gas Forum, in relation to gas electricity.  

     There are three points that specifically support the inclusion, nonetheless -- notwithstanding both the state of the proposal and the Board's intention to hear it.  The first is examining the parties and the potentially differing parties, the natural gas electricity proceeding versus the parties to the Enbridge rate proceeding.  

     The second is the nature of the wide-range of parties to this proceeding that are affected by the issue.  That's basically what Mr. Cass has referred to as “the classes of customers affected.”  

     And the third is the nature and extent of EGD’s rate-300 series actions to date.  

     First, examining the parties.  It’s very, very likely that the parties to EGD's rates cases and the Natural Gas Forum will be different, contingent on the funding awarded or surrounding the Natural Gas Forum.  

     The effect of that is that parties, including industrial customers of Enbridge, that may not participate in the Natural Gas Forum, thought that they had secured rights through the Enbridge settlement agreement.  And they may be precluded from exercising those rights to be heard, unless they participate in the Natural Gas Forum proceeding.  TransAlta submits that certainly this result is neither efficient nor procedurally fair and consistent with what parties had agreed to in the context of the settlement agreement.  

     Secondly, if you look at the nature of the participants in the two proceedings, they are quite different.  Mr. Cass's submissions referred to, effectively, two classes of parties affected, one being future electricity generators -- that are likely to be quite active, in our submission, in the Natural Gas Forum proceeding.  And the second are existing customers. 

     From TransAlta's perspective we fit, somewhat, in both camps.  That being the case, we strongly advocate that the immediate existing need to attempt to mitigate our upstream cost-allocation rate-impacts need some semblance of this issue to be addressed in this forum.  

     The third issue pertains to the actual substance of what we're looking at, resulting from Enbridge's activities over the last year.  There are a number of issues regarding Enbridge's specific compliance with the settlement agreement to date, and the proposed implementation schedule that formed part of the evidence in this proceeding, and are most properly examined in this proceeding.  

     And I’ll refer you to Exhibit H1, tab 1, schedule 1, at pages 10 and 11, starting at paragraph 28.  And that's excerpted at tab 4 of our materials, starting on page 10 of 12 and moving on to page 11 of 12.  

     Essentially, that paragraph indicates that the company examined a number of issues, and came forward with a straw man that allowed for addressing a number of the requests contained in the settlement proposal, but not all.  Specifically, it says “with respect to all but one of the requests.”  Now, certainly strict adherence to the settlement agreement would show that -- or, would indicate -- seem to indicate that all of the identified bullet points in the settlement agreement should have been examined, and the parties to this proceeding should properly have the ability to ask interrogatories, ask for materials to be adduced in relation to all of the bullets that were agreed to in the context of the settlement agreement.  

     There are a number of issues of that nature where there would be a benefit to show what, specifically, has been done to potentially have the straw man filed, to demonstrate that there is considerable and ongoing progress on the development of rate 300-series redesign issues, and, specifically, possibly result in a schedule to address the many and serious rate impacts, and help to increase the choices to those affected. 

     Which brings me to my last submission in relation to the urgency.  In the Board's letter, in response to EGD - which, again, is found at tab 3 of our materials - the last paragraph indicates that, at this time, the Board is not aware of any urgency for a redesign of rate 300, given the next steps anticipated in the Natural Gas Forum report.  

     If I can ask you to turn to tab 5 of our materials -- and I listened with some amazement when Mr. Cass referred to what is an 18 percent increase in rates -- or one portion of the rates -- as a “benefit”, that a number of customers are certainly quite significantly affected by the phase-in, regardless of whether or not they’re T-service or western-T customers.  

     Now, in saying that, I should point out the line item that I am referring to is item 6.4, which looks at the load-balancing fee increase, which is largely reflective of transportation cost changes.  Now, in fairness, some of those increases are offset by the lower distribution charges.  Nonetheless, there is a significant rate impact associated with rate 115 customers, as we've got indicated here.  And a number of customers that are subject to the rate increases pursuant to the upstream-transportation cost-allocation changes.  

     So, rather than the wait-and-see approach advocated by Mr. Cass, TransAlta, rather, would urge the Board to include the progress, the timing and changes to all aspects of EGD’s 300-series rates as an issue in this proceeding, to ensure that the parties to this proceeding have their procedural rights protected, number one, and, number two, are able to show demonstrable progress in one avenue that may assist in mitigating the impact of these rate changes from the last rates case.


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Ms. DeMarco, are you aware of who is going to follow you in your agreement?  Ms. Young?  I see Ms. Young putting up her hand.


MS. YOUNG:  I think I said I would, but I will be brief.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. YOUNG:

MS. YOUNG:  And also, briefly, by way of background, OAPPA is an organization whose membership includes the physical plant administrators of 17 Ontario universities, a number of whom are customers of Enbridge Gas Distribution and some of whom are affected significantly, in terms of increased delivery rates, as a result of the change in upstream cost allocation that occurred in the last rate case.


OAPPA was a party to the settlement agreement and last year's rate case on the phase-in of the delivery rate impacts of the changes to the upstream cost allocation and the unbundled rate review.


OAPPA believes that it is important to have proposed issue 18.3 included on the issues list in this case for three related reasons, but nonetheless three main reasons.


First of all, Enbridge Gas Distribution's completion for this rate case of the unbundled rate review, as described in last year's settlement agreement, was a key element of the agreement on upstream cost allocation.  The importance of the unbundled rate review rested on the idea that existing, large volume end users were adversely affected by the change in upstream cost allocation, will be in the best position to make economic decisions about their operations only with the complete range of options available as distinct offerings, as well as bundled options.


Unbundling serves to increase end-users' operational flexibility and it affords end users the opportunity to use and pay for only the storage and transportation services they require.


A timely review is important so that existing large volume end users can evaluate their opportunities to lower their gas costs as soon as possible.  In our submission, it would be unacceptable to arrive at October 1st, 2007, which is the date on which ‑‑ the date on which the last step in the phase‑in takes place, and not have the unbundled rate review completed and the resulting changes implemented.


OAPPA recognizes that the gas electricity interface review stemming from the natural gas forum report is expected to address a number of issues relevant to Enbridge's unbundled rates from the perspective of the evolving power market.  However, the unbundled rate review contemplated in last year's settlement agreement is also expected to address issues relevant to current end users, and so issues beyond just the future of gas‑fired power generation market.  


Therefore, we believe it is reasonable to proceed now with discussions to settle the principles that should apply and the changes to rates 300, 305, 310 and 315 that are independent of future power market considerations.


So, in summary, it is OAPPA's view that proposed issue 18.3 should be on the issues list to ensure that there are meaningful discussions, now, that will lead to tangible results in moving to re-designed unbundled rate schedules for current end users, rather than putting the entire unbundled rate review on hold pending the outcome of the gas electricity interface review.


Thanks very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.  Are we back to you, Mr. Thompson?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  IGUA supports the submissions made by Ms. Young and Ms. DeMarco and urges you to leave this matter on the issues list in this particular case.


Taking it off, in our respectful submission, is incompatible with and in contravention of the ADR agreement last year.  Taking it off and leaving it in limbo is undesirable and, again, a contravention of the agreement.  The company's proposal to sever the issue, which I understand to mean leave it in this case as a subset of this case, is acceptable to IGUA, provided there are deadlines that are set to deal with the matter reasonably expeditiously.


So that's the end state of these remarks, and I would just like to add a few comments about the context in which we make these submissions.


The first is the ADR agreement, and others have mentioned that.  The second is Enbridge's letter request of March the 18th.  The third is Enbridge's pre-filed evidence of April 6th, and the fourth item of context is the Board's letter of May the 11th, which I characterize as a proposal, because it was a letter ‑‑ a letter written without receiving from intervenors any input as to the appropriateness of removing the matter completely, and that matter, i.e., hearing submissions of intervenors, was put over to today.


So just a few comments on each of these four elements for context, first of all, dealing with the ADR agreement, and you will find that in -- I'm looking at Ms. DeMarco's brief, K0.4 at tab 1, the settlement proposal, page 1.  It's important to note this was June the 17th of 2004.  


This agreement was made before there were any RFP initiatives from the government in September of 2004.  It was an agreement amongst parties to that proceeding, and the parties that were affected by the agreement, primarily ‑‑ they're not shown in any of the filings, but if you look at page 8 of the settlement agreement, the parties that I submit were affected by this particular cost allocation change, the ‑‑ they were burdened by it -- were parties represented by the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, Casco - that's Canada Starch - IGUA, OAPPA and TransAlta.  So there were existing customers, representatives of existing customers, that were participants in this proceeding and in the agreement that resulted there from.


The agreement describes, in article 15.4, the company's proposed cost allocation changes, and then there were these resulting rate design impacts.  Mr. Cass describes those as if those proposals were a slam-dunk.  


And it's important, in my submission, to appreciate that what the company was proposing, by way of cost allocation changes, were significant changes from what had prevailed in the past.  And the past was many, many years where the company's cost allocation and rate design had been based on a theme, approved by the Board in several cases, that there was diversity between the different customer classes, with the result that upstream transportation costs, allocated to each class, were not the same unit cost and the company was proposing to change that.


Those proposals had a significant impact on large volume customers, and particularly high load factor customers, as well as large interruptible customers, and they were strenuously resisted.  IGUA put in evidence in their questions about the history of the prior cost allocation and rate design that had prevailed for many, many years, were quite extensive.


So you had a significant change being proposed.  There was a significant debate about the appropriateness of those changes.  And the upshot of it all was the willingness of those being impacted thereby to accept the cost-allocation changes, on condition that the rate-design impact be phased-in, and on condition -- this clause in the agreement, about the company agreeing for the next rate case to consider changes to the 300-series, that was part of the quid pro quo for what appears above, in the settlement agreement.  

     And there is also a clause in the agreement, on the next page, which says --

“If, during the four-year phase-in period there is a material change in circumstances, then parties have the opportunity to request changes to the phase-in agreement.”  

     So this commitment, in my respectful submission, was a significant element of the quid pro quo for the entire settlement of this issue.  And to remove the commitment, in effect - which is what the Board's proposal does - is incompatible with the settlement.  The commitment was to consider changes to these rates for the objectives described on the following page, which included choice between bundled and unbundled services, and a number of other features that are obviously applicable to existing rates that apply to existing customers.  

     There is nothing in this settlement that says it's for the benefit of potential markets, or the convergence of electricity and gas.  It's for the benefit of existing customers.  

     So our submission is, something has to be done to respond to the commitment made. 

     Enbridge, in its evidence - and that appears in -- at tab 4 of Ms. DeMarco's brief - says little or nothing about the commitment to existing customers.  It talks about target markets, potential customers.  It talks about the Ontario government's RFP for 2500 megawatts of new capacity.  It talks about the difficulty it’s having responding to the evolving power markets.  It doesn't really address the commitment that it made to existing customer groups.  And it should address that, based on the commitment that it made. 

     Enbridge appears to be treating the commitment in the ADR as if it were a commitment to evolving markets, not to existing markets. 

     So, it is in this context that we submit it would be inappropriate and unfair to postpone Enbridge's response to the commitment indefinitely.  The objective was obviously that, for some customers, the unbundling would allow them to avoid the burden of this gradual shift before the shift was complete.  And if there is nothing done to address that commitment, then part of the quid quo pro for the commitment has been obliterated.  

     So in that context, we suggest what Enbridge proposed - and this is IGUA - what Enbridge proposed in its letter about severing the issue from the main rates case, keeping it within the ambit of this case, would be acceptable to our client, my client, provided we have a deadline. 

     But that may not be acceptable to others.  And I submit that, in the context of the agreement, the appropriate course is to leave the issue on the list.  That then allows interrogatories.  It allows parties opposite in interest to lead evidence, if they wish.  Those who expected unbundling, in my submission, should have the opportunity to lead their own evidence on what is appropriate, since Enbridge has done nothing.  That's those existing customers to whom the commitment was made.

     But leaving it on the list, in my respectful submission, will allow a full discussion amongst interested parties of the process options that exist for fulfilling this commitment, and the rate design options that exist for filling this commitment in the context of a sub-proceeding, or a phase of this proceeding, but conducted under this particular docket number. 

     That's the appropriate course of action, we submit, you should adopt, and that the removal of the matter in its entirety should be rejected.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR DINGWALL:  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     I have the benefit of following upon some fairly complete submissions, so, again, I’ll be brief.  

     CME was a party to the settlement agreement, and believes that it is only in the proper context of a rate hearing that all the impacts, costs and benefits of any proposed changes, and the timing of any such changes to the affected rate classes, can properly be considered. 

     We're very sensitive to Ms. DeMarco's remarks about the variation between the funding of a rate hearing versus the funding that is associated with a policy initiative before the Board.  And being sensitive to that, we've got the better opportunity to participate and become involved in a more fulsome discussion through a rate hearing.  

     Those are my submissions.   

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. Stacey?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STACEY:  

     MR. STACEY:  I was pleased that Mr. Cass recognized the importance of both existing and potential new power-generation customers, because the materials had kind of forgot about the existing customers.  And the written material to date.  

     And I have a client on rate 170 and on rate 115, and, while Mr. Cass looks at the phase-in as a benefit, we look at it as a cost.  The phase-in over four years means the 40 -- 30 to 40 percent increase in the rate is going to be -- 25 percent of that will be coming in every year.  And this would amount to $50,000 to $70,000 a year, and that would be cumulative.  So you're looking at a quarter of a million dollars when the phase-in is complete.  

     So -- at the same time, we recognize the uncertainty with the 2500-megawatt RFP and the timetable for the Natural Gas Forum.  And I think we had some good meetings, initially.  We were averaging one a month for the first three meetings.  And I think, as a minimum, I would like to see the issue on the -- stay on the issues list so that, when we come time to the settlement agreement in July, we can -- if nothing has been done -- or that's a point where I could ask Enbridge, you know, What's happening now?  The RFP has been finalized or it hasn't, the Natural Gas Forum timing is finalized, or not, and even subsequently, when the hearing starts in August, the timing and steps can be questioned. 

     But to just leave -- you know, just leave it as a well-intended commitment to build on it, I think, is a little too generous.


Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stacey.  Is there anyone else who would like to make a submission on this issue?  Mr. Cass, reply.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Perhaps in my reply submissions, it might be most convenient if I work with the book of materials provided by Ms. DeMarco, Exhibit K0.4.  At tab 1 of that exhibit, again, is the settlement proposal from the fiscal 2005 case that you've heard a fair amount of discussion about.


Ms. DeMarco had a submission about the wording -- about the impact of this settlement proposal in relation to what should happen in this case.  I think it is important for the Board to look specifically at what the words say.


The words are that "For the next case, the company will consider changes to all aspects of certain rates."  Nothing more nor less than that.  Consider changes.


Now, if I may digress, Mr. Thompson made submissions about how this was a significant element of the quid pro quo, and things like that.  The settlement proposal speaks for itself.  I don't think it is for any of us to tell the Board what is more or less significant than anything else.  The Board has the wording, and the wording is to consider changes for the next rates case.


The company has been considering changes.  It continues to consider changes.  And the conclusion of its pre-filed evidence in this case ‑ I don't think you need to turn it up ‑ is that the company proposes to continue consultations with stakeholders.


The other point is it is for this rate case.  Mr. Thompson, I think, has understood what the company has been saying in its proposal, in that there is no suggestion of bumping this, if I can use that terminology, to another rate case.  To use Mr. Thompson's word, it is a severance issue, if anything.  


And that can be seen from the letter that accompanied the application that is at tab 2 of Exhibit K0.4.  It is on the final page of the letter, page 3, the first full paragraph starting with the word “Finally”.  If one goes about halfway through the paragraph, the company's suggestion is that:

"The Board separate the review and determination of the design criteria for these rates from the rest of the application.  At a later date, when further information is available, the company will bring forward its design proposals."


Then there is some discussion there about whether there might be a need for some sort of deferral account to be put around this to capture 2006 effects.


The word “severance” isn't used there, but Mr. Thompson is right in his characterization.  So we're not talking about anything that is any different than the wording of the settlement proposal from the fiscal 2005 case.  It's a commitment to consider the issue for the next rate case, and the company is still committed to that.


Ms. DeMarco had, in her submissions, some comments about the different parties in the Natural Gas Forum and the parties in this proceeding.  I'm not sure if that was based on a thought that the company's notion was that this issue would somehow move right out of this case to another proceeding.  That is not what the company is saying.  The company is saying it will come forward as a separate part of this case and not as part of the main application for which we're setting the issues list at this time.


Now, also in context ‑‑ in the context of discussing the company's agreement in the settlement proposal and what the company has done to follow up on that, there were comments by more than one intervenor effectively suggesting that the company's evidence shows that it is not paying enough attention to existing customers.


Well, I didn't take the Board through the evidence paragraph by paragraph, and I won't do that now, but I don't think that is a fair characterization.  Just to pick a couple of examples, in paragraph 24, the company explains how it embarked, in October 2004, with the process flowing out of the settlement proposal.  It generated a draft RFP for the hiring of a consultant.  It circulated it to interested parties from its 2005 rate case.  


The paragraphs go on to talk about what the company did in connection with those stakeholders.  Then in paragraph 27, there is reference to a stakeholder meeting on December 1st of last year.  Stakeholders to this meeting included those from the company's 2005 rate case, as well as several large volume customers and potential customers.


In my submission, intervenors are perhaps being a little too sensitive in thinking that the company is paying more attention to one group than another.  That's not the case.  I don't believe it is reflected in this evidence.  The reason there is discussion about uncertainties around these prospective power generation customers is because that is what is driving the uncertainty around the 300 series rates.  It's not that the company is treating one group or the other to be more important.  


The discussion about the prospective power generators is to make the point about the uncertainty that surrounds that aspect of the design of the rates.


Now, there were submissions made that the Board should proceed to develop a schedule.  Ms. Young indicated the Board should proceed to develop principles.  The difficulty is that to do that, now, would potentially or actually exclude these prospective power generators who, in my submission, are equally important from input on developing those principles, on how they can work with the schedule.  That is the problem.  We're trying to proceed with this now is part of the main rate case.  


And Mr. Thompson talked about how the issue could be severed within this case, but we can set the issue now.  Again, we don't have a participation of this other important group that will be better known when the response to the remaining portion of the government's RFP is known.


So the concern is about excluding parties that are important to this rate design process.  And my final point really is just to come back to what I said from the start.  Mr. Thompson made the submission about leaving the issue on the issues list, and the question, in my mind, would be:  Well, what issue?


If there is a desire to have some sort of examination of what the company has done to comply with the 2005 settlement proposal, again, as I said, the company can't argue against that as an issue on the issues list, but can only express its concerns about the productivity of doing that as opposed to just continuing with the stakeholder discussions and moving forward with the information ‑‑ the issue as promptly as possible when the information is known.


But if the notion of leaving the issue on the issues list is that rate design for these rates will be addressed, it's simply the case, as I said at the outset, that Enbridge does not have a proposal before the Board and suggest it is premature to attempt to have a proposal without the participation of this other important group; that is, our prospective customers under these rates.  That group will be better known when the outcome of the balance of the RFP is known.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I think that is the end of the discussion on that issue.  We will move forward.  Mr. Shepherd wanted to make a submission on a more general topic.


ISSUE 18.5 AND 19.1:

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I'm speaking to issues 18.5 and 19.1.  These both relate to the year 2 phase-in of the cost allocation changes in the last rate case.  For your reference, you may wish to turn up K0.1, Mr. Cass's materials, and particularly tab 2, the first two pages ...

     [Technical difficulty]


MS. NOWINA:  Just a minute.  Mr. Shepherd, we've lost the microphones again.  It's not you.  Just take a minute and we will see if we can bring it back.  I think we're back on.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we're back.  So I am referring to K0.1, tab 2, which we've been spending some time with already in the context of the rate 300 series.  And the first two pages deal with issue 15.4 last year, which was the cost allocation changes and the agreement of the parties, which -- subsequently implemented by the Board to phase that in.


The reason I'm raising this is this is not a contested issue.  However, we expressed our concern on Tuesday and advised all the parties that we were going to go on the record with this, to make sure that it was clearly understood what the scope of these issues is.


And it is our submission that these issues do not include either whether the year-2 implementation should be proceeded with, the phase-in should be proceeded with, nor whether that phase‑in, the implementation for year 2, should be modified, unless ‑‑ unless a party accepts and meets the burden of demonstrating -- as you will see on page 52 of 59 in the settlement agreement last year, unless a party meets the burden of demonstrating that there was a material change in circumstances.


The reason I am raising this is because this is not exactly like other issues in which you could say, Well, you know, this is a new rate year and you can always set rates any way you like.  And that is true.  Absolutely, it's true.  You could ignore last year's settlement agreement and decide not to proceed with the year-2 phase-in.  However, I believe that because the parties who might raise this agreed in a formal written contract last year that they had to meet a certain burden in order to raise it this year, that they are estopped from arguing to change the implementation in any way unless they meet that burden that they agreed to last year.  


Thus, we're going on the record saying we understand the issue to be a narrow one.  In fact, we understand that nobody is going to argue material change in circumstances, but we don't want to find, half way through the proceeding, that somebody is saying, You know, we agreed to a 9 percent impact, but it's really hurting our rate class and so we want to argue before the Board that they shouldn't have a 9 percent impact after all, which is what the phase-in was.


We don't want to be in a position where that happens to us later, and, therefore, of course, if somebody argues that, that means that our clients and the other ratepayer groups pay that cost.


And, therefore, we want to make clear today that this is a narrowly defined issue which does not include those aspects.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Ms. DeMarco.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DEMARCO:

MS. DEMARCO:  I wonder if I could speak to one quick sentence of what I think I heard Mr. Shepherd say, and I just want to be clear if I'm wrong.  I think I understood him to say, in fact, we understand no one will be raising the material change in circumstances.  And, for the record, I would like to ensure that -- my clients need to ask interrogatories in relation to the issue to determine whether or not there has been any material change in circumstances.


That being said, there is no current indication, but I don't want to say that without the full benefit of the record and the evidence in this material being on the record.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I endorse that sentiment, as well.  The issue reads:  “Review of the rate impacts, including year 2 phase-in of cost allocation changes and material changes, if any”.  


So that, in my respectful submissions, ties people to the material change burden.  It allows them to ask questions and, having received answers to questions and assessing whatever other evidence they may adduce, to attempt to discharge that burden.  But at this stage, the issue is as framed.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Any other submissions?  Any final matters?  Mr. Cass?  Mr. Millar?  No.


With that, the Board ‑‑ the panel recognizes that we need an answer to these questions and a decision as quickly as possible, and we will attempt to do that.  We won't have a decision today, but we will attempt to have a written decision as quickly as we possibly can.


Thank you everyone for your participation.  Thanks to the court reporter.  And we will now adjourn.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:20 p.m.
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